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The Directors of Australian Vintage Ltd submit herewith the annual financial report for the financial year ended 30 June 2014.  In order to comply 
with the provisions of the Corporations Act 2001, the Directors report as follows: 
 

Directors 
The names and particulars of the Directors of the Company during or since the end of the financial year are: 
 
 
Ian D Ferrier AM, CA, Age 74 
(Chairman, Non-Executive) Director since 20 November 1991 
Fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia and Chairman of BRI Ferrier. In this capacity, he has gained extensive experience in 
the management and administration of both private and public companies at all levels. He is presently Chairman of Goodman Management 
Limited, Director of Reckon Limited and Energy One Limited and formerly Chairman of InvoCare Limited. 
 
Neil McGuigan, Age 56 
(Chief Executive Officer) Director since 21 July 2010.  
Neil was previously the General Manager of Production and Wine Supply at Australian Vintage Ltd.  He was appointed as a director and as the 
CEO on 21 July 2010.  Neil has over 27 years’ experience in the wine industry.  He previously worked at the then privately owned Briar Ridge 
before leaving in 2000 to run Rothbury Estate and its satellites in the Upper Hunter, Cowra and Mudgee for the Foster's Group. 
 
Brian J McGuigan AM, Age 72 
(Non-Executive) Executive Director from 20 November 1991 to 31 December 2007.  Non-executive director from 1 January 2008. 
Over 45 years’ experience in the wine industry.  Formerly Managing Director of Wyndham Estate Wines Ltd then of Australian Vintage Ltd. He is 
currently on the Membership Committee of the Winemakers Federation of Australia, a Director of Hunter Wine Country Private Irrigation District as 
well as the Chairman and Director of a number of private companies. 
 
Perry R Gunner B. Ag. Sc, Grad. Dip, Bus. Admin, Age 67 
(Non-Executive) - Director since 28 June 2002 
Over 30 years’ experience in the Wine Industry. Former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Orlando Wyndham Group Pty Ltd. Chairman of 
Freedom Nutritional Products Ltd and Deputy Chairman of A2 Corporation Ltd (N.Z.).  Chairman of the Occupational Health and Safety 
Committee and Remuneration Committee. 
 
Richard Davis B. Ec, Age 58 
(Non-Executive, Chairman of the Audit Committee) Director since 5 May 2009. 
Chairman of Monash IVF Group Limited and Director (and previously CEO) of InvoCare Limited where he previously spent almost 20 years 
growing and managing the business.  Former accounting partner for a national accounting firm.  Chairman of the Audit Committee. 
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Directorships of other listed companies 
Directorships of other listed companies held by Directors in the 3 years immediately before the end of the financial year are as follows: 
 
Name Company Period of Directorship 
 
Ian D Ferrier InvoCare Limited 2001 to 2014 
 Goodman Management Limited Since 2003 
 Reckon Limited Since 2004 
 Energy One Limited Since 2007 
  
Perry R Gunner ABB Grain Limited / Viterra Inc. 2004 to 2012 
 Freedom Nutritional Products Limited Since 2003 
 A2 Corporation Ltd (N.Z.) Since 2010 
 
Richard Davis InvoCare Limited Since 2012 
 Monash IVF Group Limited Since 2014 
 

Company Secretary 
 
Michael H Noack (appointed 23 November 2005) 
 
B Accountancy (University of South Australia), Fellow of ASCPA, Graduate Diploma in Systems Analysis (University of South Australia) and 
Fellow of the Chartered Secretaries Australia.  Michael has been with Australian Vintage Ltd since the merger in 2002 and was previously Chief 
Financial Officer and Company Secretary of Simeon Wines Limited.  Michael has been the Chief Financial Officer since 2002. 
 

Principal activities 
The consolidated entity’s principal activities in the course of the financial year were wine making, wine marketing and vineyard management.  
 

Changes in state of affairs 
 
During the financial year there was no significant change in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity other than that referred to in the financial 
statements or notes thereto. 
 

Environmental regulations 
 
The consolidated entity holds licences issued by the Environmental Protection Authorities in various states which specify limits associated with the 
discharge of winery waste. There have been no known breaches of the licence conditions. 
 
 

Dividends 
 
In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2014, a final fully franked dividend of 2.2 cents per share out of current year profits was declared on 
27

th
 August 2014 and will be paid on 19

th
 November 2014. 

  
In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2013, a final fully franked dividend of 2.6 cents per share out of current year profits was declared on 
23

rd
 August 2013 and was paid on 18

th
 November 2013. 
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Review of operations and future developments 
 
The group reported a net profit of $10.5 million.  Whilst the growth in Net Profit is very pleasing, the low vintage was a major challenge as it 
negatively impacted our processing margins and the income we generate from our vineyards.   
 
It was another difficult year for the Australian wine industry with the UK/European sector proving challenging for all wine companies.  Despite this, 
the McGuigan brand is now the sixth largest wine brand in the UK (up one place from seventh last year) and has maintained its number one 
global wine brand positioning in Ireland.  
 
Our strategy of driving our branded business continues to pay dividends with both the McGuigan and Tempus Two brands experiencing double 
digit growth for financial year 2014. 
 

 Global McGuigan brand sales grew 11% in FY14.  

 Global Tempus Two brand sales grew 12% in FY14. 
 
Our brands continue to excel at wine shows and competitions – domestically and internationally – with standout awards being received across the 
varietal portfolio of Semillon, Chardonnay, Sauvignon Blanc and Shiraz.  Our company is outperforming the vast majority of our competitors.  
 
On the back of this success, and to show strong leadership in our winemaking, our company has also embarked on a strategic program of 
identifying vineyard sites and selecting appropriate varieties that will challenge the status quo. A number of these sites are already part of our 
vineyard portfolio, and we are seeking more sites and partnerships that will produce the wines of the future.  
 
The endless pursuit of quality in winemaking has created an atmosphere of excellence in our business across every endeavour. From viticulture, 
production, sales, marketing, cellar door and on-premise through to our wine clubs, our staff are focussed on over-delivering to our customers and 
consumers.  
 
Our business has not lost sight of the importance of engaging our customers around the world, and continues to embrace consumer demands and 
deliver wines that fulfil the market opportunities. Innovation and consumer engagement is also highlighted by our promotional programmes carried 
out throughout the world. 
 
The focus on producing quality wine and engaging with the consumers through accessible promotional activities has resulted in AVL improving its 
profit in FY14 in a difficult climate.  
 
The recently signed distribution agreement with COFCO Wine and Spirits Co Ltd will see AVL, through its core brand, McGuigan Wines, become 
the strategic partner for Australian wine within the COFCO Wine and Spirits business.  This exciting development will give AVL a distribution 
footprint in China which will provide a platform to grow sales across the whole McGuigan portfolio.  This co-operation will allow AVL to truly build 
its brand equity in this exciting market. 
  
 
Segment Results 
 
Overall our revenue for the year was up 3% to $214.8 million due mainly to increased branded sales in Australia, New Zealand, Asia and North 
America, offset by reduced bulk wine sales and contract processing. 
 
Australasia/North America Packaged 
 
Australasia/North America packaged sales were up 11% to $88.9 million with an increase in our bottled sales of 15% and an increase of 2% in our 
low margin cask sales.  Sales of our McGuigan brand increased by 25% in FY14, following on from 21% growth in the previous financial year. 
 
The segment provided a contribution of $8.0M compared to $5.2 million in the prior period on the back of the increased branded sales and a 15% 
increase in contribution from the Asian division.  Asia still remains less than 10% of our business but is growing.  Within the Australasia/North 
America packaged segment every division recorded increased sales. 
 
UK / Europe 
 
UK/Europe packaged and bulk sales were down by 1.4% on last year.  Whilst Bottled sales were in line with last year, private label sales declined 
by 56% as we continue to focus on branded sales.  The improved sales mix of our branded sales together with favourable exchange rate 
movements over the 12 months have resulted in total contribution being 17% up on last year.  In terms of contribution, bottled contribution 
increased by 97% or $2.9 million and bulk wine contribution declined by $2.3 million. 
 
Other 
 
Cellar Door contribution increased by $0.5 million or 71%.  The increase was due to improved sales mix, tighter cost control and real focus on 
consumer engagement. 
 
Australasia/North America bulk and processing sales were down by 8% due to reduced contract processing and reduced profitable bulk wine 
sales to the United States.  The contribution from this division was down $4.6 million due to reduced bulk wine sales and reduced margin from 
contract processing. 
 
The vineyard segment contribution was $0.2 million below last year.  SGARA was down $0.5million on last year. 
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EBIT and Net Profit 
 
EBIT was $23.8 million compared to $24.1 million in the previous year.  
 
The 1% decline was due to the reduced contribution from bulk sales to North America and the lower margin from contract processing (total 
negative impact was $4.6 million).  Offsetting this was the significantly improved contribution from the Australasia/North America Packaged ($2.7 
million), UK/Europe ($0.6 million) and the Cellar Door ($0.5 million) segments.  The vineyard segment was down $0.2m due to the impact of the 
poor vintage on SGARA (down $0.5 million). 
 
Net profit improved by $3.5 million due mainly to lower finance costs.   
 
Financial Position 
 
Net debt was $111.8 million compared to $142.1million at June 13 on the back of the successful capital raising in 2013 which resulted in gearing 
of 39% compared to 59% 12 months ago. This is in line with our forecast gearing that was provided to the market at the time of the capital raising.  
 
Our bank facility has been extended out to October 2017.  This is the first time that we have been able to secure a three year facility.  This shows 
that our banker has confidence in our future. 
 
Operating cash flow was negative $3.6 million compared to negative $4.3 million for the previous corresponding period.  Our working capital has 
increased by $17.8 million over the last 12 months.  We remain very comfortable about our stock position 
 
Outlook 
 
Industry 
 
Global industry conditions remain challenging particularly as a result of big vintages in Europe.  Weakening AUD against GBP, USD and EURO 
are expected to improve margins.  A weakening AUD could also create profitable opportunities at different price points. 
 
Competition remains fierce across the Australian and overseas markets.  
 
Company 
 
The business continues to focus on its 3 core strategies of growing branded business, growing export and maintaining low cost position. 
 
The wine business is still very tough, and until a significant drop in the dollar occurs, an appropriate return on capital employed will be difficult.  
 
During the last 12 months we have achieved a successful $39.5 million (net) capital raising with good institutional and retail support, continued to 
grow our key brands and have recently announced the sale of the Yaldara winery for $15.5 million.   
 
As long as we remain true to our strategy, be patient and focus on branded sales, we are very confident that AVL will be in an excellent position to 
capitalise on new global opportunities as they present themselves. We have a number of exciting initiatives and are cautiously enthusiastic about 
the future of our company, in particular: 
  

 The Australasian / North American segment performance is encouraging with stronger than expected demand and growth. 

 The recent signing of the distribution agreement with COFCO will give us confidence in growing the Asian market. 

 The recently extended bank facility to October 2017 confirms the banks confidence in our business. 
 
Like any other wine company, we are subject to agricultural risks such as the low 2014 vintage.  At this early stage and subject to normal 2015 
vineyard yields and forecast FX, we expect our 2015 profit to be slightly above the 2014 result.  We will further update the market on our 2015 
profit forecast at our Annual General Meeting in November 2014. 
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Directors’ meetings 
 
The following table sets out the number of Directors’ meetings (including meetings of Committees of Directors) held during the financial year and 
the number of meetings attended by each Director (while they were a Director or Committee Member). 
 
During the financial year the company held 15 Board Meetings, 3 Audit Committee Meetings, 1 Occupational Health and Safety Meeting and 1 
Remuneration Committee meetings. 
 

Directors’ Board 

Meetings 

Attended 

Audit 

Committee 

Attended 

Occupational Health and  

Safety Committee 

Attended 

Remuneration 

Committee 

Attended 

Ian D Ferrier 15 3 - 1 

Neil McGuigan 15 3 1 1 

Brian J McGuigan 15 3 1 1 

Perry R Gunner 9 - 1 1 

Richard Davis 15 3 - 1 

Total Meetings Held 15 3 1 1 

 
 

Directors’ shareholdings 
The following table sets out each Director’s relevant interest in shares and options in shares of the Company as at the date of this report. 
 

 Fully Paid 

Ordinary Shares 

Executive 

Performance Rights 

Ian D Ferrier 1,040,256 - 

Neil McGuigan 370,000 652,260 

Brian J McGuigan 487,272 - 

Perry R Gunner 517,712 - 

Richard Davis 110,000 - 

 
Details of unissued shares or interests under option / performance right as at the date of this report are: 
 

Issuing Entity Number of shares under 

option / right 

Class of shares Exercise price of option / 

right 

Expiry date of option / 

right 

Australian Vintage Ltd 1,383,400 Ordinary * 12 September 2016 

Australian Vintage Ltd 1,156,514 Ordinary * 22 August 2017 

 2,539,914    

* Performance Rights entitle the owner to an issue of shares at the vesting date subject to certain performance criteria.
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Remuneration report 
 
Directors and Key Management Personnel Details 
 
The Directors of Australian Vintage Ltd during the year were: 
 
- Ian D Ferrier (Chairman, Non-executive) 
- Neil McGuigan (Chief Executive Officer) 
- Brian J McGuigan (Non-executive) 
- Perry R Gunner (Non-executive) 
- Richard Davis (Non-executive) 
 
The Key Management Personnel of Australian Vintage Ltd during the year were: 
 
- Michael Noack (Company Secretary & Chief Financial Officer) 
- Flora Sarris (General Counsel) 
- Cameron Ferguson (General Manager – Sales and Marketing, Australasia / North America) 
- Julian Dyer (General Manager – UK / Europe) 
 
The named persons held their current position for the whole of the financial year, except as noted. 
 
Remuneration Committee and Director Compensation 

The Remuneration Committee reviews the compensation of Directors and makes recommendations to Shareholders which must be approved at 
an Annual General Meeting.  Currently, Shareholders have approved Directors remuneration for their ordinary services as Directors up to 
$350,000 per annum. 
 
Remuneration Committee and Key Management Personnel Compensation 

The Remuneration Committee reviews the compensation packages of all key management personnel on an annual basis and makes 
recommendations to the board. Compensation packages are reviewed and determined with due regard to current market rates and are 
benchmarked against comparable industry salaries. Remuneration packages are set at levels that are intended to attract and retain executives 
capable of managing the consolidated entity’s diverse operations. 

 
The Key Management Personnel compensation packages have three components: 
 
1. Base Compensation 
This component is not performance linked and generally consists of salary, motor vehicle, wine and post-employment superannuation entitlement 
(where applicable).  The base amount is reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.  Any adjustments made during the year will either be 
as a result of market rate changes in order for the Company to remain competitive or to reflect any changes in level of responsibility in the event 
the role has broadened. 
 
2. Short Term Incentives 

Short term incentive payments take into account the extent to which specific operating targets set at the start of the financial year have been 
achieved. The operational targets consist of a number of key performance indicators (KPI’s) covering both financial and non-financial measures of 
performance, the primary measure being the performance against profit targets. Short term incentive payments are normally made by way of a 
cash bonus. 
 
Objectives and performance indicators are determined annually by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) following consultation with each employee. 
 
The maximum amount of bonus payable in respect of the financial year is determined by the CEO and the Remuneration Committee. 
For the purpose of determining any bonus entitlement, individual performance is assessed against the set objectives and performance indicators 
by the CEO.  The objectives and performance indicators relate to specific duties and Company performance. 
 
Non-executive Directors receive remuneration in cash. 
  
The Board reviews the level of fees from time to time, and sets individual non-executive Directors fees based on the levels of fees for comparable 
listed companies in the appropriate parts of the world. 
 
All key management personnel, senior management and the Chief Executive Officer are entitled to a bonus on the achievement of pre-determined 
key performance criteria.   
 
Bonuses and performance rights are the only parts of remuneration which are performance related. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 
 
The table below shows the maximum entitled bonus for the current financial year and following financial year: 

 

 

2014 
Minimum 

Bonus 
$ 

2014 
Maximum Bonus 

$ 

2014 
% of maximum 

granted 

2015 
Minimum 

Bonus 
$ 

2015 
Maximum Bonus 

$ 

Neil McGuigan 0 300,000 67.00% 0 300,000 

Michael Noack  0 119,636 92.50% 0 122,627 

Cameron Ferguson 0 104,321 90.00% 0 106,929 

Julian Dyer 0 64,843 65.15% 0 69,382 

Flora Sarris 0 91,053 90.00% 0 94,250 

 
 
3. Long Term Incentives 

 

Performance Rights and Option Plan: 

Established in August 2012, this long term incentive is provided as a right to an issue of shares.  This right is subject to the achievement of set 
growth rates in earnings per share over a 4 year period up until the vesting date.  The plan is available to senior management as approved by the 
Board. 
 
Key Management Personnel and employee share option and performance rights plans 
 
For the purpose of the disclosure ‘Key Management Personnel’ is defined as an individual who is responsible for strategic planning, management 
and performance of a division or function and reports directly to the Chief Executive Officer. 
 
During and since the end of the financial year under the Performance Rights and Option Plan, 909,091 (2013 : 745,310) share performance rights 
were granted to the five highest remunerated members of key management personnel as part of their remuneration. No shares were issued 
during or since the end of the financial year as a result of the exercise of options under either of the above Plans. 
 
In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s share option and performance rights plan, as at the date of this report, key management 
personnel are entitled to exercise the following performance rights: 
 

Key management personnel Number of 
rights granted 

Exercise price Grant date Expiry date 

Neil McGuigan 395,257 N/A 12 August 2012 12 September 2016 

 257,003 N/A 22 July 2013 22 August 2017 

Mike Noack 158,103 N/A 12 August 2012 12 September 2016 

 128,502 N/A 22 July 2013 22 August 2017 

Cameron Ferguson 197,628 N/A 12 August 2012 12 September 2016 
 128,502 N/A 22 July 2013 22 August 2017 

Julian Dyer - - - - 

 128,502 N/A 22 July 2013 22 August 2017 

Flora Saris 158,103 N/A 12 August 2012 12 September 2016 

 102,801 N/A 22 July 2013 22 August 2017 

TOTAL 1,654,401    

 
As at the date of this report, the Board is considering the issue of further performance rights. 
 
The table below summarises all performance rights on issue to key management personnel: 

 
 2014 Number 2013 Number  

     

Balance at the beginning of the financial year (i) 745,310 -   

Granted during the financial year (ii) 909,091 745,310   

Exercised during the financial year (ii) - -   

Lapsed/cancelled during the financial year (iii) - -   

Balance at the end of the financial year (iv) 1,654,401 745,310   
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Remuneration report (continued) 
 
(i) Balance at the Beginning of the Financial Year 
 

 2014 
 Performance Rights – Series 

No. Vested 
No. 

Unvested 
 No. 

Grant 
Date 

Vesting 
Date 

Expiry 
Date 

Exercise 
Price $ 

        

(1) Issued 15 August  2012 745,310 - 745,310 15/08/12 15/08/16 15/09/16 N/A 

 745,310 - 745,310     

 

 
2013 
Nil 

       

 
(ii) Granted/Exercised during the Financial Year 
 

 Performance Rights – Series No. Vested 
No. 

Unvested 
 No. 

Grant 
Date 

Vesting 
Date 

Expiry 
Date 

Exercise 
Price $ 

        

(2) Issued 22 July 2013 909,091  909,091 22/07/13 22/07/17 21/08/17 N/A 

 909,091 - 909,091     

        

(iii) Lapsed/cancelled during the Financial Year 
 
 Nil 
 
 (iv) Balance at End of Financial Year 

        

 2014 
Performance Rights – Series 

No. Vested 
No. 

Unvested 
 No. 

Grant 
Date 

Vesting 
Date 

Expiry 
Date 

Exercise 
Price $ 

        

        

(1) Issued 15 August  2012 745,310 - 745,310 15/08/12 15/08/16 15/09/16 N/A 

(2) Issued 22 July 2013 909,091 - 909,091 22/07/13 22/07/17 21/08/17 N/A 

 1,654,401 - 1,654,401     

 

 2013 
Performance Rights – Series 

No. Vested 
No. 

Unvested 
 No. 

Grant 
Date 

Vesting 
Date 

Expiry 
Date 

Exercise 
Price $ 

        

(1) Issued 15 August  2012 745,310 - 745,310 15/08/12 15/08/16 15/09/16 N/A 

 745,310 - 745,310     
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Remuneration report (continued) 

 
Value of performance rights issued to directors and senior management 
 

Key management 

personnel 

Rights granted 

- Value at 

grant date 

$ 

Rights 

exercised -

Value at 

exercise date 

$ 

Options 

lapsed - Value 

at time of 

lapse 

$ 

Fair value of 

rights granted, 

exercised and 

lapsed 

$ 

Valuation of 

rights 

included in 

remuneration 

for the year 

$ 

Total 

remuneration 

that consists 

of options 

$ 

Neil McGuigan 98,766 - - - - - 

Mike Noack 49,383 - - - - - 

Cameron Ferguson 49,383 - - - - - 

Julian Dyer 49,383 - - - - - 

Flora Saris 39,506 - - - - - 

TOTAL 286,421 - - - - - 

 
 
Company Performance 
 
The tables below set out summary information about the Group’s earnings and movements in shareholder wealth for the five years to 30 June 
2014: 
 

 
30 June 

2010 
$ M 

30 June 
2011 
$ M 

30 June 
2012 
$ M 

30 June 
2013 
$ M 

30 June 
2014 
$ M 

Total Revenue (excluding sale of assets) 237.7 223.2 228.0 208.5 214.8 

EBIT  23.6 29.4 23.4 24.1 23.8 

Net Profit/(Loss)  9.0 6.6 7.1 7.1 10.5 

 
 
 

 
30 June 

2010 
$ M 

30 June 
2011 
$ M 

30 June 
2012 
$ M 

30 June 
2013 
$ M 

30 June 
2014 
$ M 

Earnings per share - cents 7.0 5.1 5.4 5.3 5.1 

Dividends declared - cents - 2.5 2.6 2.6 2.2 

Share price at start of year - $ per share 0.15 0.20 0.27 0.34 0.475 

Share price at end of year - $ per share 0.20 0.27 0.34 0.475 0.32 

 
 
There were no shares repurchased in the current year.  No shares or interests were issued during or since the end of the financial year as a result 
of the exercise of an option. 
 
Key management personnel options granted, exercised or lapsed  
 
There were no options granted or exercised during the year.  
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Remuneration report (continued) 
 
Directors and Executives Remuneration 
The following table discloses the remuneration of the Directors and Executives of the Company: 
 

2014 Short-term benefits Post Employment Share based payments Total 

 

Salary & 
Fees 

Bonus Other 
Non – 

Monetary 
(c)

 
Super - 

annuation 
Other 

Cash 
Settled 

Equity 
Settled 
Option

s 

Equity 
Settled 
Shares 

 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Non-executive directors            

Ian D Ferrier 100,000 - - 2,000 9,000 - - - - 111,000 

Brian J McGuigan 60,000 - - 2,000 5,400 - - - - 67,400 

Perry R Gunner 60,000 - - 2,000 5,400 - - - - 67,400 

Richard Davis 60,000 - - 2,000 5,400 - - - - 67,400 

Executive directors           

Neil McGuigan 633,894 201,000 - 32,649 25,000 - - - - 892,543 

Executives           

Michael Noack 352,010 110,664 - 87,142 25,000 - - - - 574,816 

Cameron Ferguson 297,396 93,889 - 26,200 27,509 - - - - 444,994 

Flora Sarris 264,777 81,974 - 1,200 24,492 - - - - 372,443 

Julian Dyer 262,303 41,865 - - 57,885 - - - - 362,053 

TOTAL 2,090,380 529,392 - 155,191 185,086 - - - - 2,960,049 

 
 

2013 Short-term benefits Post Employment Share based payments Total 

 

Salary & 
Fees 

Bonus Other 
Non – 

Monetary 
(c)

 
Super - 

annuation 
Other 

Cash 
Settled 

Equity 
Settled 
Option

s 

Equity 
Settled 
Shares 

 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Non-executive directors           

Ian D Ferrier 100,000 - - 2,000 9,000 - - - - 111,000 

Brian J McGuigan 60,000 - - 2,000 5,400 - - - - 67,400 

Perry R Gunner 60,000 - - 2,000 5,400 - - - - 67,400 

Richard Davis 60,000 - - 2,000 5,400 - - - - 67,400 

Executive directors           

Neil McGuigan 599,339 108,375 - 28,042 25,503 - - 23,002 - 784,261 

Executives           

Michael Noack 347,346 74,227 - 85,857 25,000 - - 9,201 - 541,631 

Cameron Ferguson 290,084 81,985 - 26,200 26,108 - - 11,501 - 435,878 

Flora Sarris 270,551 76,651 - 1,200 24,350 - - 9,201 - 381,953 

Julian Dyer (a) 190,901 34,269 - - 39,927 - - - - 265,097 

Paul Schaafsma (b) 57,527 - - - 26,813 34,172 - - - 118,512 

TOTAL 2,035,748 375,507 - 149,299 192,901 34,172 - 52,905 - 2,840,532 

 
(a) Appointed 3

rd
 September 2012. 

(b) Resigned 21
st
 August 2012.   

(c) Non-monetary items include provision of motor vehicle, insurance, wine, rent, travel, health benefits and applicable fringe benefits tax.  

 
No director or senior management person appointed during the period received a payment as part of his or her consideration for agreeing to the 
position.
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Remuneration report (continued) 
 
Senior management details 
The senior managers of the Company and Group are: 
 
• Neil McGuigan • Michael Noack  

• Flora Sarris  • Cameron Ferguson 

• Julian Dyer  

 
Service Agreements of Key Management Personnel 
Compensation and other terms of employment for directors and executives are formalised in service agreements or letters of appointment. 
Termination benefits disclosed below do not apply in cases of misconduct or other specified circumstances. 
 
Neil McGuigan 

(i) Term of agreement – no specified term. 
(ii) Compensation includes: 

a. Base salary, superannuation, motor vehicle allowance and wine allowance. 
b. Short term incentive - entitlement to a bonus subject to certain key performance criteria.  Key performance criteria include defined 

financial (including company profitability), commercial and occupational health and safety targets. 
c. Long term incentive – entitlement to equity under the Performance Rights and Options Plan subject to meeting growth rates in 

earnings per share over a 4 year period. 
(iii) If Mr McGuigan’s employment is terminated by the Company, the Company must pay the equivalent of one year’s total remuneration 

(excluding short term incentive).  
 
Michael Noack 

(i) Term of agreement - no specified term. 
(ii) Compensation includes: 

a. Base salary, superannuation, life/trauma insurance, motor vehicle allowance and wine allowance. 
b. Short term incentive - entitlement to a bonus subject to certain key performance criteria.  Key performance criteria include defined 

financial (including company profitability), commercial and occupational health and safety targets. 
c. Long term incentive – entitlement to equity under the Performance Rights and Options Plan subject to meeting growth rates in 

earnings per share over a 4 year period. 
(iii) If Mr Noack’s employment is terminated by the company, the company must pay Mr Noack the equivalent of one year’s total 

remuneration. 
 
Cameron Ferguson 

(i) Term of agreement - no specified term. 
(ii) Compensation includes: 

a. Base salary, superannuation, motor vehicle allowance and wine allowance. 
b. Short term incentive - entitlement to a bonus subject to certain key performance criteria.  Key performance criteria include defined 

financial (including divisional profitability), commercial and occupational health and safety targets. 
c. Long term incentive – entitlement to equity under the Performance Rights and Options Plan subject to meeting growth rates in 

earnings per share over a 4 year period. 
(iii) If Mr Ferguson’s employment is terminated by the company, the company must pay Mr Ferguson the equivalent of one year’s base 

remuneration (including motor vehicle allowance). 
 
Flora Sarris 

(i) Term of agreement - no specified term. 
(ii) Compensation includes: 

a. Base salary, superannuation and wine allowance. 
b. Short term incentive - entitlement to a bonus subject to certain key performance criteria.  Key performance criteria include defined 

commercial and occupational health and safety targets. 
c. Long term incentive – entitlement to equity under the Performance Rights and Options Plan subject to meeting growth rates in 

earnings per share over a 4 year period. 
(iii) If Ms Sarris’s employment is terminated by the company, the company must pay Ms Sarris the equivalent of one year’s total 

remuneration. 
 
Julian Dyer 

(i) Term of agreement - no specified term. 
(ii) Compensation includes: 

a. Base salary and United Kingdom pension payment. 
b. Short term incentive - entitlement to a bonus subject to certain key performance criteria.  Key performance criteria include defined 

financial (including divisional profitability), commercial and occupational health and safety targets. 
c. Long term incentive – entitlement to equity under the Performance Rights and Options Plan subject to meeting growth rates in 

earnings per share over a 4 year period. 
(iii) Upon termination Company may restrain employee from working for a Business in Competition/Company customer for a period of up to 

6 months. Company will pay Base Salary for period in which restraint is enforced. 
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Non-audit services 
 
The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services, during the year, by the auditor (or by another person or firm on the auditor’s 
behalf) is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.  The Audit Committee, in 
conjunction with the Chief Financial Officer, assesses the provision of non-audit services by the auditors to ensure that the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporation Act 2001 in relation to the audit are met. 
 
Details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor are outlined in note 9 to the 
financial statements.  
 
The directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 9 to the financial statements do not compromise the external auditor’s 
independence, based on advice received from the Audit Committee, for the following reasons: 

 All non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor, and 

 none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in Code of Conduct APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board, including reviewing or auditing the 
auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity for the company, acting as advocate for the company or jointly 
sharing economic risks and rewards. 

 
 
 

Auditors’ independence declaration 
The Auditors independence declaration is included on page 14. 
 

Indemnification of officers and auditors 
 
During the financial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the Directors of the Company (as named previously), the 
Company Secretaries and all Executive Officers of the Company and of any related Body Corporate against a liability incurred as a Director, 
Secretary or Executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of 
the liability and the amount of the premium. The Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified or agreed to 
indemnify an officer or auditor of the Company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor. 
 

Rounding off of amounts 
 
The Company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that Class Order 
amounts in the Directors’ Report and the Financial Report have been rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated. 

 
Subsequent Events 

 

On the 24
th
 July 2014, the company signed a binding heads of agreement with 1847 (SA) Pty Ltd (1847) for the sale of its Yaldara Winery and 

Yaldara brand for $15.5M.  Settlement which is subject to 1847 obtaining a liquor licence for the winery, is expected to occur in November or 

December 2014. 

 
There have been no other matters or circumstances, other than that referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto, that have arisen since 
the end of the financial year, that have significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to section 298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
On behalf of the Directors 
 

 
 

 
Ian Ferrier 
Chairman 
29

th
 August 2014 
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29 August 2014 

 

 

 

Dear Board Members 

 

Re:  Australian Vintage Ltd 

 

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, I am pleased to provide the following declaration of independence 

to the directors of Australian Vintage Ltd. 

 

As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Australian Vintage Ltd for the financial year ended 30 June 2014, 

I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of: 

(i) the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.   

 

Yours faithfully 

 

 

 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 

 
Stephen Harvey 

Partner  

Chartered Accountants 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

 

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited 

The Board of Directors 

Australian Vintage Ltd 

275 Sir Donald Bradman Drive 

COWANDILLA SA 5033 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

to the members of Australian Vintage Ltd 
 

Report on the Financial Report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Australian Vintage Ltd, which comprises  the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2014, the statement 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of cash flows and the statement of changes in equity for the year ended on that date, notes 

comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity, comprising the 
company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year as set out on pages 16 to 71.  

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that 

gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 3, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting 

Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that the consolidated financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.   

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the 

auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control, relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view, in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit 

also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. We confirm that the independence declaration 

required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the directors of Australian Vintage Ltd, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at 
the time of this auditor’s report.  

Opinion 

In our opinion: 

(a) the financial report of Australian Vintage Ltd is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2014 and of its performance for the year ended on that 
date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

(b) the consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 3  

Report on the Remuneration Report  

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 7 to 12 of the directors’ report for the year ended 30 June 2014. The directors of the company are 
responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to 

express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  

Opinion 

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of Australian Vintage Ltd for the year ended 30 June 2014, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

 

 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 

 
Stephen Harvey 

Partner 
Chartered Accountants 

Adelaide, 29 August 2014 

 
 

 

 
 

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 
 

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited 
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 Note Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $’000 $’000 

Revenue 5 214,753 208,549 

Cost of sales 5 (155,745) (151,380) 

Gross Profit  59,008 57,169 

    

Fair value of grapes picked during the financial year less estimated costs to sell  2,713 3,171 

Investment Income 5 532 403 

Other gains and losses 5 2,002 917 

Distribution expenses  (11,977) (10,856) 

Gain on provision for onerous contracts  4,106 4,223 

Sales and marketing expenses  (24,984) (23,646) 

Administration expenses  (7,154) (6,531) 

Loss on foreign exchange  - (459) 

Finance costs  5 (9,139) (13,910) 

Profit before tax   15,107 10,481 

Income tax expense 6 (4,563) (3,411) 

Profit for the year  10,544 7,070 

    

Other comprehensive loss, net of income tax:    

Items that may be subsequently classified to the profit or loss:    

Profit / (Loss) on interest rate swaps  491 1,453 

Valuation of foreign exchange hedges  (257) (1,571) 

Items that will not be subsequently classified to the profit or loss:    

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations  73 45 

    

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income  (92) 21 

Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year, net of income tax  215 (52) 

Total comprehensive income for the year  10,759 7,018 

    

Earnings Per Share:    

Basic (cents per share) 35 5.1 5.3 

Diluted (cents per share) 35 5.1 5.3 

 
 
Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 20 to 70. 
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 Note Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $’000 $’000 

Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 42 4,202 995 

Trade and other receivables 10 41,698 35,613 

Inventories 11 168,142 151,376 

Current tax assets 6 49 79 

Other 12 3,851 3,637 

Total Current Assets  217,942 191,700 

Non-Current Assets    

Inventories 13 23,736 20,858 

Other financial assets 14 59 59 

Biological assets 15 33,184 33,184 

Property, plant and equipment 16 90,058 93,171 

Goodwill 17 37,685 37,685 

Other intangible assets 18 7,744 7,405 

Water Licences 19 7,554 7,467 

Deferred tax assets 6 52,100 52,288 

Other 20 435 - 

Total Non-Current Assets  252,555 252,117 

Total Assets  470,497 443,817 

Current Liabilities    

Trade and other payables 22 40,996 33,019 

Borrowings 23 3,606 2,305 

Other financial liabilities 24 1,101 1,559 

Provisions 25 5,579 6,061 

Other 26 535 48 

Total Current Liabilities  51,817 42,992 

Non-Current Liabilities    

Borrowings 27 112,349 140,748 

Deferred tax liabilities 6 14,491 10,773 

Other financial liabilities 28 112 430 

Provisions 29 3,491 7,975 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  130,443 159,926 

Total Liabilities  182,260 202,918 

Net Assets  288,237 240,899 

Equity    

Capital and reserves    

Issued capital 32 443,266 403,155 

Reserves 33 804 670 

Accumulated losses 34 (155,833) (162,926) 

Total Equity  288,237 240,899 

 

 

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 20 to 70. 
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 Share 
capital 

Equity - 
settled 

employee 
benefits 
reserve 

Hedging 
reserve 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Accumulated 
losses 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

       

Balance at 1 July 2013 403,155 1,578 (948) 40 (162,926) 240,899 

       

Profit for the period - - - - 10,544 10,544 

Profit on interest rate swaps - - 491 - - 491 

Valuation of foreign exchange hedges - - (257) - - (257) 

Exchange differences arising on 
translation of foreign operations 

- - - 73 - 73 

Income tax relating to components of 
other comprehensive income 

- - (70) (22) - (92) 

Total comprehensive income for the 
period  

- - 164 51 10,544 10,759 

       

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:  

      

Dividend paid - - - - (3,451) (3,451) 

Recognition of share based payments - (81) - - - (81) 

Issue of shares 40,111 - - - - 40,111 

Balance at 30 June 2014 443,266 1,497 (784) 91 (155,833) 288,237 

       

Balance at 1 July 2012 402,792 1,497 (865) 9 (166,564) 236,869 

       

Profit for the period - - - - 7,070 7,070 

Loss on interest rate swaps - - 1,453 - - 1,453 

Valuation of foreign exchange hedges - - (1,571) - - (1,571) 

Exchange differences arising on 
translation of foreign operations 

- - - 45 - 45 

Income tax relating to components of 
other comprehensive income 

- - 35 (14) - 21 

Total comprehensive income for the 
period  

- - (83) 31 7,070 7,018 

       

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:  

      

Dividend paid - - - - (3,432) (3,432) 

Recognition of share based payments - 81 - - - 81 

Issue of shares 363 - - - - 363 

Balance at 30 June 2013 403,155 1,578 (948) 40 (162,926) 240,899 

 
 

 

 
 
Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 20 to 70. 
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 Note Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $’000 $’000 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Receipts from customers  220,898 223,481 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (216,593) (217,164) 

Cash generated from operations  4,305 6,317 

Interest and other costs of finance paid  (8,388) (10,935) 

Interest and bill discounts received  447 284 

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities 42 (d) (3,636) (4,334) 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Payments for property, plant and equipment  (3,069) (3,473) 

Payments for intangibles 18 (374) (136) 

Payment for water licences 19 (87) (751) 

Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment  184 1,316 

Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities  (3,346) (3,044) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Loan payment received  1,843 188 

Dividends paid  (3,451) (3,069) 

Net proceeds from share issues  39,383 - 

Proceeds from borrowings  - 13,700 

Repayment of borrowings  (27,586) (2,683) 

Net cash provided by / (used in) financing activities  10,189 8,136 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  3,207 758 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  995 237 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 42 4,202 995 

 

 

 

Notes to the financial statements are included on pages 20 to 70. 
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Note 1: General Information 
 
Australian Vintage Ltd is a public company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (trading under the symbol ‘AVG’), incorporated in Australia 
and with operations in Australia and the United Kingdom. 
 
Australian Vintage Ltd’s registered office and principal place of business are as follows: 
 
Registered Office and principal place of business 

275 Sir Donald Bradman Drive 

Cowandilla SA 5033 

Tel: (08) 8172 8333 

 
The consolidated entity’s principal activities in the course of the financial year were wine making, wine marketing, vineyard management and 
development.  
 
Approval of financial statements 
 
The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on 29

th
 August 2014. 

 

Note 2: Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards 
 
2.1  Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards 
 
In the current year, the Group has applied a number of new and revised AASBs issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that 
are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 July 2013. 
 

Standard/ 
Interpretation  

Requirements  Effect on Financial Statements  

AASB 2011-4 
‘Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards to Remove 
Individual Key 
Management 
Personnel Disclosure 
Requirements’ 

This standard removes the individual key management 
personnel disclosure requirements in AASB 124 ‘Related Party 
Disclosures’ 
 

As a result the Group only discloses the key 
management personnel compensation in total and 
for each of the categories. 
 
Individual key management personnel information is 
now disclosed in the remuneration report due to an 
amendment to Corporations Regulations 2001 
issued in June 2013. 
 

AASB 2012-2 
‘Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Disclosures – 
Offsetting Financial 
Assets 
and Financial Liabilities’ 

The Group has applied the amendments to AASB 7 
‘Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities’ for the first time in the current year. The 
amendments to AASB 7 require entities to disclose information 
about rights of offset and related arrangements (such as 
collateral posting requirements) for financial instruments under 
an enforceable master netting agreement or similar 
arrangement. 
 

The amendments have been applied retrospectively. 
As the Group does not have any offsetting 
arrangements in place, the application of the 
amendments does not have any material impact on 
the consolidated financial statements. 

AASB 2012-5 
‘Amendments 
to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from 
Annual Improvements 
2009-2011 Cycle’ 

The Annual Improvements to AASBs 2009 - 2011 have made 
a number of amendments to AASBs. The amendments that 
are relevant to the Group are the amendments to AASB 101 
regarding when a statement of financial position as at the 
beginning of the preceding period (third statement of financial 
position) and the related notes are required to be presented.  
 
 

The adoption of this amending standard does not 
have any material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

AASB 2012-9 
‘Amendment to AASB 
1048 arising from the 
Withdrawal of Australian 
Interpretation 1039’ 

This standard makes amendment to AASB 1048 ‘Interpretation 
of Standards’ following the withdrawal of Australian 
Interpretation 1039 ‘Substantive Enactment of Major Tax Bills 
in Australia’.  
 

The adoption of this amending standard does not 
have any material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

AASB CF 2013-1 
‘Amendments to the 
Australian Conceptual 
Framework’ and AASB 
2013-9 ‘Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards – Conceptual 
Framework, Materiality 
and Financial Instruments’ 
(Part A Conceptual 
Framework) 
 

This amendment has incorporated IASB’s Chapters 1 and 3 
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting as an Appendix 
to the Australian Framework for the Preparation and 
Presentation of Financial Statements.  
 
As a result the Australian Conceptual Framework now 
supersedes the objective and the qualitative characteristics of 
financial statements, as well as the guidance previously 
available in Statement of Accounting Concepts SAC 2 
‘Objective of General Purpose Financial Reporting’.  
 

The adoption of this amending standard does not 
have any material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements. 
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Note 2: Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards (continued) 
 
2.1  Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards (continued) 
   

New and revised 
Standards on 
consolidation, joint 
arrangements, associates 
and 
disclosures 
 

In August 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation, 
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures was issued 
comprising: 

 AASB 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ 

 AASB 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’ 

 AASB 12 ‘Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’ 

 AASB 127 ‘Separate Financial Statements’  

 AASB 128  ‘Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures’.  
 

Subsequent to the issue of these standards, amendments to 
AASB 10, AASB11 and AASB 12 were issued to clarify certain 
transitional guidance on first-time application. 
 

The adoption of this amending standard does not 
have any material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

AASB 13 ‘Fair Value 
Measurement’ and AASB 
2011-8 ‘Amendments to 
Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from 
AASB 13’ 

AASB 13 establishes a single source of guidance for fair 
value measurements and disclosures about fair value 
measurements.  
AASB 13 includes extensive disclosure requirements and 
requires prospective application from 1 July 2013.  
 

The Group has applied AASB 13 for the first time in 
the current year.  
 
In accordance with the transitional provisions, the 
Group has not made any new disclosures required 
by AASB 13 for the 2013 comparative period.  
 
Other than the additional disclosures, the application 
of AASB 13 does not have any material impact on 
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements. 

AASB 2012-10 
‘Amendments to 
Australian 
Accounting Standards – 
Transition Guidance and 
Other Amendments’ 

This standard amends AASB 10 and various Australian 
Accounting Standards to revise the transition guidance on the 
initial application of those Standards. This standard also 
clarifies the circumstances in which adjustments to an entity’s 
previous accounting for its involvement with other entities are 
required and the timing of such adjustments.  
 

The adoption of this amending standard does not 
have any material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

AASB 119 ‘Employee 
Benefits’ 
(2011) and AASB 2011-10 
‘Amendments to 
Australian 
Accounting Standards 
arising 
from AASB 119 (2011)’ 

AASB 119 (as revised in 2011) changes the accounting for 
defined benefit plans and termination benefits. The most 
significant change relates to the accounting for changes in 
defined benefit obligations and plan assets. 
In addition, AASB 119 (as revised in 2011) introduces certain 
changes in the presentation of the defined benefit cost 
including more extensive disclosures. 
 

In the current year, the Group has applied AASB 119 
(as revised in 2011) ‘Employee Benefits’ and the 
related consequential amendments for the first time. 
 
The adoption of this amending standard does not 
have any material impact on the consolidated 
financial statements 
 

 
 2.2 Standards and Interpretations in issue not yet adopted  
At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the Standards and Interpretations listed below were in issue but not yet effective.  
 

Standard/Interpretation  Effective for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on or after  

Expected to be initially 
applied in the financial 
year ending  

AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, and the relevant amending standards  1 January 2018  30 June 2019  

AASB 1031 ‘Materiality’ (2013)  1 January 2014  30 June 2015  

AASB 2012-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities’  

1 January 2014  30 June 2015  

AASB 2013-3 ‘Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-
Financial Assets’  

1 January 2014  30 June 2015  

AASB 2013-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Novation of Derivatives 
and Continuation of Hedge Accounting’  

1 January 2014  30 June 2015  

AASB 2013-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Investment Entities’  1 January 2014  30 June 2015  

AASB 2013-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, 
Materiality and Financial Instruments’  

1 January 2014  30 June 2015  

INT 21 ‘Levies’  1 January 2014  30 June 2015  

AASB 2014-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’  
- Part A: ‘Annual Improvements 2010–2012 and 2011–2013 Cycles’  
- Part B: ‘Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions (Amendments to AASB 119)’  
- Part C: ‘Materiality’  

1 July 2014  30 June 2015  

AASB 2014-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ – Part D: ‘Consequential 
Amendments arising from AASB 14’  

1 January 2016  30 June 2017  

AASB 2014-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ – Part E: ‘Financial 
Instruments’  

1 January 2015  30 June 2016  

AASB 14 ‘Regulatory Deferral Accounts’  1 January 2016  30 June 2017  
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Note 2: Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards (continued) 
 
Adoption of new and revised Accounting Standards (continued) 
 
At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the following IASB Standards and IFRIC Interpretations were also in issue but not yet 
effective, although Australian equivalent Standards and Interpretations have not yet been issued.  
 

Standard/Interpretation  Effective for annual 
reporting periods 
beginning on or after  

Expected to be initially 
applied in the financial 
year ending  

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (Amendments to IFRS 11)  1 January 2016  30 June 2017  

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation (Amendments to 
IAS 16 and IAS 38)  

1 January 2016  30 June 2017  

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’  1 January 2017  30 June 2018  

Agriculture: Bearer Plants (Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41)  1 January 2016  30 June 2017  

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’  1 January 2018 30 June 2019 

 
Standards and Interpretations affecting the reported results or financial position 
 
There are no new and revised Standards and Interpretations adopted in these financial statements affecting the reporting results or financial 
position. 
 
 

Note 3: Summary of accounting policies 
 
3.1 Statement of compliance 
 
The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations, and complies with other requirements of the law.  
 
The financial report comprises the consolidated financial statements of the Group.  For the purposes of preparing the consolidated financial 
statements, the company is a for-profit entity.  
 
Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (‘A-IFRS’). Compliance with the A-IFRS 
ensures that the financial statements and notes of the Group comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’).   
 
3.2 Basis of preparation 

 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for certain financial instruments that are measured 
at revalued amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below and biological assets which are 
presented at market value. 
 
Historical cost is generally based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services. All amounts are presented in 
Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted. 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the 
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those 
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in 
these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of 
AASB 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of AASB 117, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair 

value, such as net realisable value in AASB 2 or value in use in AASB 136. 

 

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to 
the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as 
follows: 
 

 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement 
date; 

 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly; and 

 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

 
The company is a company of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that Class Order 
amounts in the financial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise indicated. 
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3.3 Basis of consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities (including structured entities) controlled by 
the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company: 
 

 has power over the investee; 

 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 
 

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the 
three elements of control listed above. 
 
When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient 
to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally.  
 
The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company's voting rights in an investee are sufficient 
to give it power, including: 
 

 the size of the Company's holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders; 

 potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties; 

 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 

 any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities at 
the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at previous shareholders' meetings. 

 
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses control of the 
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the 
subsidiary. 
 
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests.  
 
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in 
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 
 
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group's 
accounting policies. 
 
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated 
in full on consolidation. 
 
 
3.3.1 Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing subsidiaries 

 
Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as 
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their 
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company. 
 
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the 
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the 
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the 
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable AASBs). The fair value of 
any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for 
subsequent accounting under AASB 139, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture. 
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Note 3: Summary of accounting policies (continued) 
 

3.4 Business combinations 
 

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of the business combination is measured as 
the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the 
Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.  Acquisition related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  

 
Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, 
measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement period 
adjustments are adjusted for retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments 
that arise from additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about 
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or liability is remeasured at 
subsequent reporting dates in accordance with AASB 139, or AASB 137 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’, as appropriate, 
with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. 
 
The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under AASB 3(2008) are recognised at 
their fair value at the acquisition date, except that: 
 

 deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance 
with AASB 112 Income Taxes and AASB 119 Employee Benefits respectively; 

 liabilities or equity instruments related to the replacement by the Group of an acquiree’s share-based payment awards are measured in 
accordance with AASB 2 Share-based Payment; and 

 assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with AASB 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 
Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard. 
 

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group 
reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement 
period, or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the 
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date. 
 
The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete information about facts and 
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date – and is subject to a maximum of one year. 

 
3.5 Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their 
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.  
 
3.6 Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits.  Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash and have maturity of less than 3 months at date of acquisition. 
 
3.7 Derivative financial instruments 
 
The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk, including 
foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swaps. Further details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in note 43 to the 
financial statements. 
 
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value 
at each reporting date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a 
hedging instrument, in which event, the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. 
The Group designates certain derivatives as either hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments (fair value 
hedges), hedges of highly probable forecast transactions or hedges of foreign currency risk of firm commitments (cash flow hedges), or hedges of 
net investments in foreign operations. 
 
The fair value of a hedging derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more 
than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or current 
liabilities. 
 
Embedded derivatives 
  
Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and characteristics 
are not closely related to those of host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit 
or loss. 
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Note 3: Summary of accounting policies (continued) 
 
Hedge accounting 
The Group designates certain hedging instruments, which include derivatives, embedded derivatives and non-derivatives in respect of foreign 
currency risk, as either fair value hedges, cash flow hedges, or hedges of net investments in foreign operations. 
Hedges of foreign exchange risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges. At the inception of the hedge relationship the Group 
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for 
undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the 
hedging instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item.  
Note 43 contains details of the fair values of the derivative instruments used for hedging purposes. Movements in the hedging reserve are shown in 
the Statement of Changes in Equity.  
 
Fair value hedge 
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in profit or loss immediately, together with 
any changes in the fair value of the hedged item that is attributable to the hedged risk. 
 
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or 
exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. The adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item arising from the hedged risk is 
amortised to profit or loss from that date. 
 
Cash flow hedge 
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are deferred in equity. The gain 
or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss as part of other expenses or other income. Amounts deferred in 
equity are recycled in profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss in the same line of the statement of 
comprehensive income as the recognised hedged item. However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-
financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial 
measurement of the cost of the asset or liability. 
 
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or 
exercised, or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that time remains in equity and is 
recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the 
cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
 
3.8 Employee benefits 
 
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave when it is probable 
that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably. 
 
Liabilities recognised in respect of short term employee benefits, are measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to 
apply at the time of settlement. 
 
Liabilities recognised in respect of long term employee benefits are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made 
by the Group in respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date. 
 
Defined contribution plans 
Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed when employees have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.  

 
3.9 Financial instruments  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue 
of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.  
 
Financial assets 
 
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ (FVTPL), ‘held to maturity’ 
investments, ‘available-for-sale’ (AFS) financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the 
financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.  
 
Investments in controlled entities 
Investments in controlled entities are recorded at cost in the Company financial statements. Investments in associates have been accounted for 
under the equity method in the consolidated financial statements and the cost method in the Company financial statements. Other investments are 
recorded at fair value with gains or losses arising on re-measurement recognised in profit or loss. 
Dividends are recognised on a receivable basis. Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective 
yield on the financial assets. 
 
Effective interest method 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the relevant 
period. 
 
Income is recognised on an effective interest rate basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as at FVTPL. 
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Note 3: Summary of accounting policies (continued) 
 
Financial assets at FVTPL 
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.  
 
Loans and receivables 
Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as 
‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment. 
Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest rate. 
 

Impairment of financial assets 
Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. 
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of 
the financial asset the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted. For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount 
of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
original effective interest rate.  
 
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables 
where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying 
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the 
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the 
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been 
recognised.  
  
Derecognition of financial assets  
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial 
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a 
collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.  
 
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received 
and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in 
profit and loss.  
 
On derecognition of a financial asset other than in its entirety, (e.g. when the Group retains an option to repurchase part of the transferred asset or 
retains a residual interest that does not result in the retention of substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the Group retains control), 
the Group allocates the previous carrying amount of the financial asset between the part it continues to recognise under continuing involvement, 
and the part it no longer recognises on the basis of amount allocated to the part that is no longer recognised and the sum of the consideration 
received for the part no longer recognised and any cumulative gain or loss allocated to it that had been recognised in other comprehensive income 
is recognised in profit and loss. A cumulative gain or loss that has been recognised in other comprehensive income is allocated between the part 
that continues to be recognised and the part that is no longer recognised on the basis of the relative fair values of those parts.  
 
3.10 Financial instruments issued by the company 
 
Debt and equity instruments 
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. 
 
Financial guarantee contract liabilities 
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and subsequently at the higher of the amount recognised as a 
provision and the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation in accordance with the revenue recognition policies. 
 
Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ or other financial liabilities. 
 
Other financial liabilities 
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.  
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an 
effective yield basis.  
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, 
or, where appropriate, a shorter period. 
 
De-recognition of financial liabilities  
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference 
between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.  
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Note 3: Summary of accounting policies (continued) 
 
3.11 Foreign currency 
 
Foreign currency transactions 
All foreign currency transactions during the financial year are brought to account using the exchange rate in effect at the date of the transaction. 
Foreign currency monetary items at reporting date are translated at the exchange rate existing at reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. 
The individual financial statements of each group entity are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each entity are 
expressed in Australian dollars, which is the functional currency of Australian Vintage Ltd, and the presentation currency for the consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency (foreign 
currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that 
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items 
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. 
 
Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except for: 
 

 exchange differences which relate to assets under construction for future productive use, which are included in the cost of those assets where 
they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on foreign currency borrowings (refer note 3.7);  

 exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks (refer note 3.7); and 

 exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned or likely to 
occur, which form part of the net investment in a foreign operation, and which are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve and 
recognised in profit or loss on disposal of the net investment. 

 
Foreign operations 
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s overseas operations are translated into Australian dollars at exchange rates prevailing at 
the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. 
 
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and 
translated at exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. Exchange differences arising are recognised in equity.   
 
3.12 Goodwill 
 
Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date).  Goodwill is 
measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value 
of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets 
acquired and the liabilities assumed. 
 
If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the consideration 
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain. 
 
Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the 
Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been 
allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment 
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  
 
On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal. 
 
3.13 Goods and services tax 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except: 
(i)  where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset 

or as part of an item of expense; or 
(ii) for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 
 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables. 
Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing 
activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows. 
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Note 3: Summary of accounting policies (continued) 
 
3.14 Grape vines and produce extracted from vines 
 
Grape vines are classified as a separate biological asset class in accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 141 
“Agriculture”.  The biological assets are measured on initial recognition and at each reporting date at their fair value less costs to sell unless the 
market determined prices or values are not available and for which alternative estimates of fair value are determined to be clearly unreliable.  In the 
current financial year and the comparative financial year, the fair values have been estimated by the directors based on discounted cash flow 
analysis of each vineyard and reference to the current market value of similar assets recently exchanged in the open market.  Produce harvested 
from vines owned by the Company are measured as revenue at fair value less estimated costs to sell at the point of harvest (including production 
costs).  A gain or loss arising from a change in fair values less estimated costs to sell is included in the profit and loss in the period in which the 
gain/loss arises. The agricultural produce is recorded within inventory. 
 
3.15 Impairment of long-lived assets  
 
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication 
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to 
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the 
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
  
Goodwill, intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment annually and 
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. An impairment of goodwill is not subsequently reversed. 
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 
 
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 
(cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset 
is carried at fair value, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 
 
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase. 
 
3.16 Income tax 
 
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.  
 
Current tax 
Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or tax loss for the period. 
It is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. Current tax for current and prior 
periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable). 
 
Deferred tax 
Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary differences arising from differences between the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax base of those items. 
 
In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can 
be utilised. However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial 
recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination) which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit. 
Furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in relation to taxable temporary differences arising from goodwill. 
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates except where the 
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with these investments and interests are only recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are 
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period(s) when the asset and liability giving rise to 
them are realised or settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. The 
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at 
the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the company/Group intends 
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.  
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Note 3: Summary of accounting policies (continued) 
 
Current and deferred tax for the period 
Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the statement of comprehensive income, except when it relates to items credited 
or debited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity, or where it arises from the initial accounting for a 
business combination, in which case it is taken into account in the determination of goodwill or excess. 
 
Tax consolidation 
The company and all its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are part of a tax-consolidated group under Australian taxation law. Australian 
Vintage Ltd is the head entity in the tax-consolidated group.  
 
Current tax liabilities and assets, and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and relevant tax credits of the members of the tax-
consolidated group are recognised by the company (as head entity in the tax-consolidated group). 
 
Entities within the tax-consolidated group have entered into a tax funding arrangement and a tax-sharing agreement with the head entity. Under the 
terms of the tax funding arrangement, Australian Vintage Ltd and each of the entities in the tax-consolidated group has agreed to pay a tax 
equivalent payment to or from the head entity, based on the current tax liability or current tax asset of the entity.  
 
3.17 Intangible assets 
 
Brand names and Registered Trademarks  
Brand names recognised by the company are considered to have an indefinite useful life and are not amortised. Each period, the useful life of this 
type of asset is reviewed to determine whether events and circumstances continue to support an indefinite useful life assessment for the asset.  
Such assets are tested for impairment in accordance with the policy stated in Note 3.15.  
 
Software 
Software is carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.  Amortisation is recognised on a straight line 
basis over the estimated useful life.  The estimated useful life of the software package is 10 years.  Estimated useful lives and amortisation methods 
are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.  
 
3.17.1 Intangible assets acquired in a business combination 
 
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised at their fair value at the 
acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost). 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately. 
 
3.18 Inventories 
 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of fixed and variable overhead 
expenses, are assigned to inventory on hand by the method most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on 
a first in first out basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of 
completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
 
3.19 Investments in associates 
 
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence.  The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated into 
the financial statements under the equity method of accounting. 
Losses of an associate in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the 
Group’s net investment in the associate) are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associate.  
 
3.20 Leased assets 
 
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. 
All other leases are classified as operating leases. 
 
Group as lessor 
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease.  However, contingent rentals arising 
under operating leases are recognised as income in a manner consistent with the basis on which they are determined. 
 
Group as lessee 
Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised at their fair value or, if lower, at amounts equal to the present value of the minimum lease 
payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as 
a finance lease obligation. 
 
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are charged directly against income, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in 
which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs. Refer to note 3.5. 
Finance leased assets are amortised on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. 
 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is 
more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 
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Note 3: Summary of accounting policies (continued) 
 
3.21 Non-current assets held for sale 
 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing 
use. This condition is regarded as met only when management are committed to the sale, the sale is highly probable and the asset is available for 
immediate sale in its present condition and the sale of the asset is expected to be completed within one year from the date of classification.  
 
3.22 Payables 
 
Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments resulting from the purchase 
of goods and services. 
 
3.23 Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost.  Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item.  In 
the event that settlement of all or part of the purchase consideration is deferred, cost is determined by discounting the amounts payable in the future 
to their present value as at the date of acquisition. 
 
Buildings, plant and equipment, vineyard improvements and equipment under finance lease are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and impairment. Freehold land is not depreciated.  
 
Depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but excluding land. Depreciation is calculated on a straight 
line basis so as to write off the net cost of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. The estimated useful lives, residual 
values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 
Vineyard improvements are depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the shorter, using the straight line method. 
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect of any 
changes recognised on a prospective basis.  Depreciation related to wineries, production and some vineyards is capitalised into inventory. 
 
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, where shorter, the term of 
the relevant lease. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit and loss.  
 
The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation: 
 

 Buildings 50 years 

 Vineyard improvements 15-20 years 

 Plant and equipment 5-33 years 

 Plant and equipment under lease 5-15 years 
 
3.24 Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive), the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and 
the amount of the provision can be measured reliably. 
 
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at reporting date, taking into 
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present 
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows. 
 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is 
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 
An onerous contract is considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable cost of meeting the contractual obligations 
exceed the economic benefits estimated to be received. Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised as a provision to the 
extent that the present obligation exceeds the economic benefits estimated to be received. 
 
A restructuring provision is recognised when the Group has developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid expectation 
in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The 
measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both 
necessarily entailed by the restructuring and not associated with the ongoing activities of the entity. 
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Note 3: Summary of accounting policies (continued) 
 
3.25 Revenue 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates, 
discounts and other similar allowances. 
 
Sale of goods 
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfied: 
 

 the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods; 

 the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over the 
goods sold; 

 the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 

 it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and 

 the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 
 
Vineyard development/management contracts 
Revenue from cost plus development contracts is recognised by reference to the recoverable costs incurred during the financial year plus the 
percentage of fees earned.  Percentage of fees earned is measured by the proportion that costs incurred to date relate to the estimated total cost of 
the stage of the contract.  Where a loss is expected to occur it is recognised immediately.  Revenue from vineyard management contracts is 
recognised based on a percentage of fees earned. 
 
Contract Processing 
Revenue from contract processing is recognised based on the percentage of winemaking process completed. 
 
Interest Revenue 
Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis by reference to the principal balance and the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount . Interest income from a 
financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured 
reliably. 
  
Rental Income 
Rent is accrued on a time basis by reference to the total rent due to the Company for the reporting period. 
 
3.26 Share-based payments 
 
For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability equal to the portion of the goods or services received is recognised at the current fair value 
determined at each reporting date.  Equity-settled share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments at 
the grant date. 
 
3.27 Trade credits 
 
Trade credits are recorded at the net present value of expected future usage.  The Company reviews the recoverable amount of the trade credits at 
each reporting date and any shortfall against carrying value is charged to profit and loss. 
 
3.28 Water licences 
 
Water allocations with permanent rights are measured at cost on the date of acquisition.  The permanent water licences have an indefinite useful life 
and are not subject to amortisation.  Water allocations with permanent rights are assessed for impairment in each reporting period. 
Water allocations with temporary rights are expensed in the year of purchase. 
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Note 4: Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about carrying values 
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form the basis of making the 
judgments. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.    
 
4.1  Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 
 
The following are the critical judgments that management has made in applying the Group’s accounting policies: 
 

Inventories 

The net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs to sell which 

approximates fair value less cost to sell.  The key assumptions require the use of management judgment.  These key assumptions are the variables 

affecting the estimated costs to sell and the expected selling price.  

 

The write down is based on assuming a selling price of the wine either through packaged goods or as bulk wine.  Should the key assumptions 

applied in the estimation of revenue from the sale of the inventory when sold vary the ultimate realisable value may differ from that recorded at 

balance date. 

 

Income tax losses  

The company has recognised deferred tax assets in relation to unused tax losses and temporary differences as at the end of the reporting period.  

The recognition of deferred tax assets is after considering whether it is probable that the company will have sufficient taxable income in the 

foreseeable future and against which the deferred tax assets can be recovered. 

 

The assessment of whether there will be sufficient taxable income is subject to a level of judgment and if the actual conditions vary to the 

assumptions adopted, the carrying value of the asset would need to be reassessed. 

 

Onerous Contracts 

The Company is party to a variety of grape supply agreements including vineyard lease agreements; grower grape supply agreements; and 
management of vineyard agreements.  The agreements provide for the Company to acquire grapes at various prices some of which exceed market 
values. 
 
The agreements in the current market have become onerous.  The Company is attempting to mitigate the losses associated with the agreements. 
 
Each contract has been reviewed and it has been determined that there is an unavoidable cost of meeting the obligations under the grape supply 
agreements that exceeds the forecast economic benefits (the onerous amount). 
 

The provision for the onerous contracts has been brought to account using the best estimate of the onerous amount. 

 

There are a number of future events the Company expects will affect the amount required to settle the contracts and these events are reflected in 

the amount of the provisions where there is sufficient objective evidence that they will occur. 
 
The onerous contracts provision has been adjusted to the present value (at 8.5% discount rate – 2013 : 8.5%) of the expenditures expected to be 
required to settle the onerous obligations. 
 
4.2  Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
Impairment of goodwill and other intangibles 

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of businesses has been reassessed through the estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units 

to which goodwill has been allocated.  The value in use calculations require the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the 

cash generating unit and select a risk adjusted discount rate in order to calculate present value. 

 

A discounted cash flow analysis was performed on the cash generating units associated with the goodwill balances, using a pre-tax discount rate of 

13.42% (2013: 13.12%), which indicated that the valuation of assets (including goodwill), based upon discounted cash flows, was higher than the 

carrying value.   

 

The carrying value of the brand names have been individually assessed as part of separate cash generating units (CGUs).  

 

Impairment tests were performed on brand names using a discounted cash flow model and a pre-tax discount rate of 19.0% (2013 : 19.5%) 

(branded wine business).  

 

There have been estimations applied to assumptions in the cash flow from the CGUs.  Should these estimations vary, the carrying amount of the 

intangible assets would need to be reassessed. 



Notes to the financial statements 
For the financial year ended 30 June 2014 
 

Financial Report Year Ended 30 June 2014   - 33 -  
Australian Vintage Ltd 
 

 

 

Note 4: Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 
 
Useful lives of property, plant and equipment 

The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each annual reporting period. During the financial year, 

the directors determined that the useful lives of certain items of equipment should be shortened, due to developments in technology. 

 
Revaluation of biological assets  
The Company reviewed the long term value of vineyards and adopted the net present values of the cash flows as a Directors ’ Valuation for the 
period ended 30 June 2014.   

In determining the fair value of the biological assets, the forecast cash flows from the vineyards have been discounted using a 15.14% (2013 : 

14.32%) pre-tax discount rate. 
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Note 5: Profit / (Loss) from operations 
 

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year from continuing operations 

 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

(a) Revenue – continuing operations   

 Revenue from the sale of goods 200,904 193,158 

 Revenue from contract processing 10,067 11,959 

 Revenue from rendering vineyard contract services 3,782 3,432 

 Total 214,753 208,549 

 
A portion of the Group’s revenue from the sale of goods denominated in foreign currencies is cash flow hedged.   The amounts disclosed above for 
revenue from the sale of goods include the recycling of the effective amount of the foreign currency derivatives that are used to hedge foreign 
currency revenue. 

   

Investment income   

 Rental income 85 91 

 Interest income 447 312 

 Total 532 403 

 
Other gains / (losses) 

  

 Gain / (Loss) on sales of other property, plant and equipment  178 (32) 

 Wine equalisation tax rebate 500 500 

 Gain on foreign exchange 229 - 

 Other rebates 538 740 

 Government grants - 136 

 Impairment of water licences - (901) 

 Other 557 474 

 Total 2,002 917 

   

(b) Profit before income tax   

 Profit before income tax has been arrived at after (crediting) the following gains:   

Unrealised profit on foreign exchange - (459) 

   

 Profit before income tax has been arrived at after charging the following expenses:   

Cost of sales 155,745 151,380 

   

Operating lease rental expenses (minimum lease payments) 10,708 13,137 

   

Employee benefit expense:   

Share-based payments:   

 Equity settled share-based payments 196 81 

 196 81 

   

Termination benefits 103 351 

Superannuation benefits 2,855 2,595 

Other employee benefits (incl. salaries and wages) 34,651 32,805 

Total employee benefits expense 37,805 35,832 
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Note 5: Profit / (Loss) from operations (continued) 

 
 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

   

Depreciation of non-current assets - charged to cost of sales / inventory 5,323 5,402 

Depreciation of non-current assets - other 1,184 1,157 

Amortisation of non-current assets 567 511 

Total depreciation and amortisation expense 7,074 7,070 

   

(c) Finance costs:   

Interest on bank overdrafts and loans  8,021 12,259 

Interest on obligations under finance lease 528 661 

 8,549 12,920 

   

Unwinding of discounts on provisions 590 990 

   

Total finance costs 9,139 13,910 

   

   

The weighted average rate on funds borrowed is 5.47% per annum (2013: 8.12% per annum).   
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Note 6: Income taxes 

 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

(a) Income tax recognised in profit or loss   

 
Current tax 

  

Tax expense comprises:   

Current tax expense in respect of the current year 593 89 

 593 89 

Deferred tax   

Deferred tax expense relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences 3,906 3,376 

Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the current tax of prior years 64 (54) 

Total tax expense attributable to continuing operations 3,970 3,322 

Total income tax expense recognised in the current year relating to continuing operations 4,563 3,411 

   

The prima facie income tax expense/(benefit) on pre-tax accounting income/(loss) from 
operations reconciles to the income tax expense in the financial statements as follows: 

  

Profit from operations 15,107 10,481 

Income tax expense calculated at 30% 4,532 3,144 

   

Non-deductible expenses (33) 51 

Current year capital losses not recognised - 270 

Capital losses utilised (not previously recorded) - - 

 (33) 3,465 

   

Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to tax of prior years 64 (54) 

Total tax expense 4,563 3,411 

   

The tax rate used for the 2014 and 2013 reconciliations above is the corporation tax rate of 30% payable by Australian Corporate entities on 
taxable profits under Australian tax law. 

   

(b) Income tax recognised in other comprehensive income (92) 21 

   

(c) Current tax assets and liabilities   

   

Current tax assets  49 79 

   

(d) Deferred tax balances   

Deferred tax assets comprise:   

Tax losses – revenue 34,700 34,250 

Temporary differences 17,400 18,038 

 52,100 52,288 

Deferred tax liabilities comprise:   

Temporary differences 14,491 10,773 

   

Total income tax recognised directly in equity (92) 21 
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Note 6: Income taxes (continued) 
 

(e) Taxable and deductible temporary differences arise from the following: 

 

 CONSOLIDATED  

 Temporary differences 2014 Opening Balance 
$’000 

Charged to Income 
$’000 

Charged to 
Equity 
$’000 

Acquisitions/ 
Disposals 

$’000 

Closing 
Balance 

$’000 

Gross deferred tax liabilities:      

Work in progress (1,665) (2,708) - - (4,373) 

Property, plant and equipment (7,448) (798) - - (8,246) 

Intangible assets (344) (124) - - (468) 

Inventories (1,288) (86) - - (1,374) 

Other (28) 90 (92) - (30) 

 (10,773) (3,626) (92) - (14,491) 

Gross deferred tax assets:      

Property, plant and equipment 10 (1) - - 9 

Provisions and accruals 8,694 (3,335) - - 5,359 

Financial liabilities 275 (147) - - 128 

Inventories 9,059 2,263 - - 11,322 

Tax losses 34,250 450 - - 34,700 

Other - (145) 727 - 582 

 52,288 (915) 727 - 52,100 

      

 Temporary differences 2013 Opening Balance 
$’000 

Charged to Income 
$’000 

Charged to 
Equity 
$’000 

Acquisitions/ 
Disposals 

$’000 

Closing 
Balance 

$’000 

Gross deferred tax liabilities:      

Work in progress (1,948) 283 - - (1,665) 

Property, plant and equipment (6,629) (819) - - (7,448) 

Intangible assets (370) 26 - - (344) 

Inventories (1,256) (32) - - (1,288) 

Other (29) (20) 21 - (28) 

 (10,232) (562) 21 - (10,773) 

Gross deferred tax assets:      

Property, plant and equipment - 10 - - 10 

Provisions and accruals 11,824 (3,130) - - 8,694 

Financial liabilities 711 (436) - - 275 

Inventories 9,235 (176) - - 9,059 

Tax losses 33,353 897 - - 34,250 

 55,123 (2,835) - - 52,288 

 
There are no unrecognised revenue tax losses relating to the Group or the Company. The company has not recognised $6,710,000 (2013: 
$6,710,000) of capital losses.  The Directors expect the future financial performance of the company will facilitate the full recovery of the revenue 
tax losses. 
 
Tax Consolidation 
Relevance of tax consolidation to the Group 
The company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities have formed a tax-consolidated group with effect from 1 July 2003 and are therefore 
taxed as a single entity from that date.  The head entity within the tax-consolidated group is Australian Vintage Ltd.  The members of the tax-
consolidated group are identified in note 39. 
 
Nature of tax funding arrangements and tax sharing agreements 
Entities within the tax-consolidated group have entered into a tax funding arrangement and a tax-sharing agreement with the head entity.  Under the 
terms of the tax funding arrangement, Australian Vintage Ltd and each of the entities in the tax-consolidated group has agreed to pay a tax 
equivalent payment to or from the head entity, based on the current tax liability or current tax asset of the entity.  The tax funding arrangement 
requires each subsidiary to prepare an individual tax calculation to determine the amount payable or receivable.  Such amounts are reflected in 
amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the tax-consolidated group. 
 
The tax sharing agreement entered into between members of the tax-consolidated group provides for the determination of the allocation or income 
tax liabilities between the entities should the head entity default on its tax payment obligation.  No amounts have been recognised in the financial 
statements in respect of this agreement as payment of any amounts under the tax sharing agreement is considered remote. The effect of the tax 
sharing agreement is that each member’s liability for tax payable by the tax-consolidated group is limited to the amount payable to the head entity 
under the tax funding arrangement.  
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Note 7: Key management personnel compensation 
 

The aggregate compensation of the key management personnel of the Group and the company is set out below: 
 

 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 $ $ 

   

Short-term employee benefits 2,774,963 2,560,554 

Post-employment benefits 185,086 227,073 

Share based payments - 52,905 

Termination benefits - - 

 2,960,049 2,840,532 

 

Note 8: Executive share option plan 
 
The following share based payments arrangements were in existence during the current and prior reporting periods. 
 
Australian Vintage Ltd Executive Option Acquisition Plan (“Plan”) 
The Company had an executive and senior employee option scheme which allowed for the granting of share options over unissued shares of the 
company.  The company also issues share options under the Australian Vintage Ltd Executive Option Acquisition Plan (“Plan”).  These options were 
granted over issued shares of the company.  The last of the options under this plan lapsed during the prior year.  There were no options issued 
under this plan during the current year. 
 
Australian Vintage Ltd Performance Rights and Option Plan  
Established in August 2012, this long term incentive is provided as a right to an issue of shares.  This right is subject to the achievement of set 
growth rates in earnings per share over a 4 year period up until the vesting date and the likelihood of these hurdles being met is assessed annually.  
The plan is available to senior management as approved by the board.  On the 22nd July 2013, 1,156,514 (2013 : 1,383,400) performance rights 
were issued under this plan to employees.  The fair value of these performance rights was $444,448 (2013 : $367,569) at the grant date.  These 
rights were priced using a binominal option pricing model. 

 
 
 
The table below summarises all performance rights on issue: 

 
 2014 Number 2013 Number  

     

Balance at the beginning of the financial year (i) 1,383,400 -   

Granted during the financial year (ii) 1,156,514 1,383,400   

Exercised during the financial year (ii) - -   

Lapsed/cancelled during the financial year (iii) - -   

Balance at the end of the financial year (iv) 2,539,914 1,383,400   

 
(ii) Balance at the Beginning of the Financial Year 
 

 2014 
 Performance Rights – Series 

No. Vested 
No. 

Unvested 
 No. 

Grant 
Date 

Vesting 
Date 

Expiry 
Date 

Exercise 
Price $ 

        

(1) Issued 15 August  2012 1,383,400 - 1,383,400 15/08/12 15/08/16 15/09/16 N/A 

 1,383,400 - 1,383,400     

 

 
2013 
Nil 
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Note 8: Executive share option plan (continued) 
 
 
(ii) Granted/Exercised during the Financial Year 
 

 Performance Rights – Series No. Vested 
No. 

Unvested 
 No. 

Grant 
Date 

Vesting 
Date 

Expiry 
Date 

Exercise 
Price $ 

        

(2) Issued 22 July 2013 1,156,514 - 1,156,514 22/07/13 22/07/17 21/08/17 N/A 

 1,156,514 - 1,156,514     

        

(iii) Lapsed/cancelled during the Financial Year 
 
 Nil 
 
 (iv) Balance at End of Financial Year 

        

 2014 
Performance Rights – Series 

No. Vested 
No. 

Unvested 
 No. 

Grant 
Date 

Vesting 
Date 

Expiry 
Date 

Exercise 
Price $ 

        

        

(1) Issued 15 August  2012 1,383,400 - 1,383,400 15/08/12 15/08/16 15/09/16 N/A 

(2) Issued 22 July 2013 1,156,514 - 1,156,514 22/07/13 22/07/17 21/08/17 N/A 

 2,539,914 - 2,539,914     

 

 2013 
Performance Rights – Series 

No. Vested 
No. 

Unvested 
 No. 

Grant 
Date 

Vesting 
Date 

Expiry 
Date 

Exercise 
Price $ 

        

(1) Issued 15 August  2012 1,383,400 - 1,383,400 15/08/12 15/08/16 15/09/16 N/A 

 1,383,400 - 1,383,400     

 

 

Note 9: Remuneration of auditors 
 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 $ $ 

Auditor of the parent company   

Audit or review of financial report 344,793 334,750 

Other services – other audit services 8,200 9,500 

Other services – taxation advice 3,650 13,931 

Other services – grant advice - 6,500 

Other services – systems review 10,000 - 

Other services – taxation compliance 43,750 35,500 

 410,393 400,181 

The external auditor of Australian Vintage Ltd is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.  
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Note 10: Current trade and other receivables  
 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

Trade receivables (i) 41,076 33,247 

Allowance for doubtful debts (219) (122) 

 40,857 33,125 

   

Loans to other entities (ii) - 1,843 

Other receivables 841 645 

 41,698 35,613 

 
(i) The average credit period on sales of goods and rendering of services is 64 days (2013: 64 days). No interest is charged on 

outstanding trade receivables. An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable trade receivable amounts arising from the past 
sale of goods and rendering of services, determined by reference to past default experience.  

(ii) Loan repaid in the year ended 30 June 2014.  The interest rate charged is 10.25% (2013: 10.25%). 
 

 
Before accepting any new customers, the Group uses a third party to assess the potential customer's credit quality and defines credit limits by 
customer. Limits provided on customer accounts are reviewed throughout the year. Of the trade receivables balance at the end of the year, $16.8 
million (2013: $15.8 million) is due from international and domestic supermarket groups and a major wine entity. There are no other customers who 
represent more than 5% of the total balance of trade receivables. 
 
Included in the Group's trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $3.0 million (2013: $3.6 million) which are past due at the 
reporting date for which the Group has not provided as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered 
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.  
 

Ageing of past due but not impaired   

30 – 60 days 2,952 3,010 

60 – 90 days 60 239 

90 – 120 days 9 397 

Total 3,021 3,646 

Average age (days) 38 50 

Movement in the allowance of doubtful debts   

Balance at the beginning of the year (122) (303) 

Impairment (losses) / reversals recognised on receivables  (228) 68 

Amounts written off as not collectable 131 113 

Balance at the end of the year (219) (122) 

 
In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date 
credit was initially granted up to the reporting date.  Accordingly, the directors believe that there is no further credit provision required in excess of 
the allowance for doubtful debts. 
 
Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired trade receivables amounting to $77,000 (2013 : Nil) which have been placed 
under liquidation.  The impairment recognised represents the difference between the carrying amount of these trade receivables and the present 
value of the expected liquidation proceeds.  The impaired receivable is aged over 120 days. 
 

Note 11: Current inventories 
 

Bulk wine 121,634 112,996 

Other stores and raw materials 4,093 3,727 

Work in progress 5,640 5,551 

Bottled wine 36,775 29,102 

 168,142 151,376 

 
The cost of inventory recognised as an expense (or cost of sales) during the year in respect of continuing operations was $155.7 million (2013: 
$151.4 million). 
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Note 12: Other current assets 
 

 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

 

Prepayments 3,851 3,637 

 3,851 3,637 

   

 
Note 13: Non-current inventories 
 

   

Bulk wine  21,800 19,326 

Bottled wine  1,936 1,532 

 23,736 20,858 

 

Note 14: Other non-current financial assets  
 
Investments in companies (i) 59 59 

 59 59 

 

(i) Relates to investments in wine related businesses. 
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Note 15: Biological assets  
 
 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

Fair value less costs to sell of vines at beginning of year 33,184 33,169 

Valuation adjustment - 15 

Fair value less costs to sell of vines at end of year 33,184 33,184 

 
(a) Impact on Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income  
 The profit / (loss) before income tax included in the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income resulting from the fair value less costs to 

sell of produce extracted from the biological assets is a profit of $2,713,000 (2013: $3,171,000).  
 
(b) Physical quantity of vines 

 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 No. No. 

Number of vines owned 1,429,364 1,429,364 

Acres owned 1,923 1,923 

Number of grapes crushed - owned vineyards (tonnes) 18,498 20,165 

  
(c) Nature of asset  
 Australian Vintage Ltd owns vineyards in several regions across Australia (primarily the Sunraysia, Riverland and Adelaide Hills regions). 
 
 There are two resulting assets: 

(i) grapes (agricultural produce) – recorded within inventory 
(ii) vines (biological asset) 

 
(d) Significant assumptions 
 Significant assumptions made in determining the net market value of the vines are: 
 
 (i) 100% of the vines are currently mature and will be productive for periods up to 40 years per vine; 
 (ii) the expected price of the vines is constant in real terms, based on average prices throughout the current year; 

(iii) the costs expected to arise throughout the life of the vines are constant in real terms, based on average costs throughout the year; and 
(iv) inflation will continue at the current rate; and 
(v) discount rate of 15.14% (2013 : 14.32%). 

 
 Significant assumptions made in determining the net market value of grapes picked are: 
 

(i) grapes crushed valued at management estimate of market price; and 
(ii) costs are those costs incurred in the 12 months preceding harvest. 
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Note 16: Property, plant and equipment  
 

 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

(a) Vineyard Improvements   

 at cost 14,270 14,270 

 accumulated depreciation (6,978) (6,276) 

 7,292 7,994 

   

 Freehold Land   

 at cost 13,726 13,726 

   

 Buildings   

 At cost 17,884 17,765 

 accumulated depreciation (5,275) (4,871) 

 12,609 12,894 

   

 Plant and equipment under lease   

 at cost 13,561 13,232 

 accumulated amortisation (1,247) (831) 

 12,314 12,401 

   

 Plant and equipment   

 at cost 114,585 112,172 

 accumulated depreciation (70,468) (66,016) 

 44,117 46,156 

   

 Total Property, Plant and Equipment   

 at cost 174,026 171,165 

 accumulated depreciation and amortisation (83,968) (77,994) 

 90,058 93,171 

(b) Reconciliations   

 Vineyard Improvements    

 carrying amount at beginning of the financial year 7,994 8,698 

 additions - - 

 disposals - (2) 

 depreciation (702) (702) 

 at end of year 7,292 7,994 

   

 Freehold land   

 carrying amount at beginning of the financial year 13,726 13,726 

 at end of year 13,726 13,726 

   

 Buildings   

 carrying amount at beginning of the financial year 12,894 12,877 

 additions 119 419 

 depreciation (404) (402) 

 at end of year 12,609 12,894 
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Note 16: Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

 Plant and equipment under lease   

 carrying amount at beginning of the financial year 12,401 11,735 

 additions 329 1,040 

 depreciation (416) (374) 

 at end of year 12,314 12,401 

   

 Plant and equipment   

 carrying amount at beginning of the financial year 46,156 48,577 

 additions 2,951 2,727 

 disposals (5) (67) 

 depreciation (4,985) (5,081) 

 at end of year 44,117 46,156 

   

 Aggregate depreciation and amortisation allocated, and impairment  recognised as 
an expense during the year: 

  

   

 Buildings 404 402 

 Vineyard improvements 702 702 

 Plant and equipment  4,985 5,081 

 Plant and equipment under lease  416 374 

 6,507 6,559 

   

 

Note 17: Goodwill  
 

Gross carrying amount:   

Balance at beginning of the financial year 44,085 44,085 

Balance at end of the financial year 44,085 44,085 

   

Accumulated impairment losses   

Balance at beginning of financial year 6,400 6,400 

Balance at end of financial (i)  6,400 6,400 

   

Net book value   

At the beginning of the financial year 37,685 37,685 

At the end of the financial year 37,685 37,685 

 
Allocation of goodwill to cash-generating units 
 
Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the following cash generating unit:  

 
   

Bulk wine business 37,685 37,685 

 
(i)  The impairment of goodwill is tested each reporting date and is based on determining the recoverable amount the businesses’ cash generating 

units (CGU).  To assess the recoverable amount of each CGU, the company has determined both the fair value less costs to sell and the value 
in use of the assets in each CGU.  Given the unique nature of the assets, it is not always possible to obtain comparable fair values to the assets 
owned by this company and therefore the value in use method is the primary method used by the company for assessing whether the assets in 
the CGU are impaired.  The recoverable amount of each cash generating unit has been determined based on a value in use method which 
calculates the net present value of the forecast cash flows expected from the CGU.  The cash flows are based on the current management 
forecasts for the following 5 years and a terminal value to account for the cash flows beyond the 5

th
 year.  In preparing the impairment models 

for each CGU the company started with the cash flows from the year ended 30 June 2014 and adjusted that base year for the budgets and 
plans approved by the Board of Directors.   
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Note 17: Goodwill (continued) 
 
The cash flows in the impairment model have been discounted to present value using a discount rate applicable to each cash flow.  The company 
has used the weighted average cost of capital as a guide to determine the discount rate applied to the cash flows as it is considered the most 
appropriate discount rate for the risk specific to the assets in the CGU’s.   The net present value of the cash flows has been compared to the assets 
within the CGU which include the goodwill balances above.  In the current year, the company applied a pre-tax discount rate of 13.42% p.a. (2013: 
13.12% p.a.) to account for the risk associated with the assets in the current financial markets.   
 
Discount Rate 
 
The discount rate was determined after considering an appropriate: Beta; risk free interest rate; incremental cost of borrowing for the company; and 
the debt /equity ratio.  The inputs used in the model have been sourced from industry and financial market reports relevant to the company and the 
Australian wine industry and have been considered in relation to the company. 
 
Key Assumptions 
 
The other key assumptions used in the value in use calculations are as follows: 
 

 Working capital levels used in future years adjust in line with future sales growth. 

 Terminal Growth Rate of 3% (2013 : 3%) 

 Pre-tax Weighted Average Cost of Capital/ Discount rate of 13.42% (2013 : 13.12%) 

 Risk Free rate of 3.75% (2013 : 3.15%) 

 Cost of debt 7.5% (2013 : 8.5%) 

 Levered Beta of 0.85 (2013 : 0.85) 

 Revenue growth rate of 3% (2013 : 3%) 
 

Sensitivity Analysis 
 
The Company has performed sensitivity analysis on the value in use calculation as follows: 
 
The discount rate can be increased by 1.1 percentage points (to 14.5%) before an impairment is recognised. 
 
Reducing revenue growth rates to 0% does not cause the associated goodwill to be impaired.   
 
Reducing the terminal growth rate to 1% does not cause the associated goodwill to be impaired. However, a reduction in the terminal growth rate to 
0% would generate an impairment charge of $2.2 million. 
 
The calculations are not very sensitive to exchange rates as the majority of cash flows from the business unit are denominated in Australian dollars. 
 
Management believes that any reasonable possible change in the key assumptions on which recoverable amount or the inputs to the discount rate 
are based would not cause the carrying amount of the individual cash-generating units to exceed their recoverable amount. 
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Note 18: Other intangible assets 
 

 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

Brand Names and Registered Trademarks:   

Balance at 1 July 5,488 5,488 

Costs incurred during the year 60 - 

Other 532 - 

Balance at 30 June 6,080 5,488 

   

Software:   

Balance at 1 July 1,917 2,292 

Costs incurred during the year 314 136 

Amortisation expense (567) (511) 

Balance at 30 June 1,664 1,917 

Total other intangible assets 7,744 7,405 

 

Brand names have been assessed as having an indefinite useful life as the assets are integral to the business.  Brand names can be managed by 

another management team and similar assets in the wine industry are commonly defined as having an indefinite useful life. 

 
The impairment of brand names is tested each reporting date and is based on determining the recoverable amount of the cash flows generated by 
each brand.  The cash flows are based on the current management forecasts for the following 5 years and a terminal value to account for the cash 
flows beyond the 5th year. 
 
Discount Rate 
 
The cash flows have been discounted to present value.  In the current year, the company applied a pre-tax discount rate of 19.0% p.a. (2013: 
19.5% p.a.) to account for the risk associated with the assets in the current financial markets. 
 
The discount rate was determined after considering an appropriate: Beta; risk free interest rate; incremental cost of borrowing for the company; and 
the debt /equity ratio.  The inputs used in the model have been sourced from industry and financial market reports relevant to the company and the 
Australian wine industry and have been considered in relation to the company. 
 
Key Assumptions 
 
The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations are as follows: 
 

 Terminal Growth Rate of 3% (2013 : 3%) 

 Pre-tax Weighted Average Cost of Capital / Discount rate of 19.0% (2013 : 19.5%) 

 Cost of debt 7.5% (2013 : 9%)  

 Levered Beta of 1.19 (2013 : 1.19) 

 Revenue growth rate of 3% (2013 : 3%) 
 
No impairment charges relating to brands were recorded as the cash flows continued to support the carrying values of these brands. 
 
Sensitivity Analysis 
 
The Company has performed sensitivity analysis on the brand names valuation models as follows: 
 

 Reducing revenue growth rates to 0% does not cause the brand names to be impaired.   

 Reducing the terminal growth rate to 0% does not cause the brand names to be impaired.  
 
Management believes that any reasonable possible change in the key assumptions on which recoverable amount or the inputs to the discount rate 
are based would not cause the carrying amount of the brand names to exceed their recoverable amount. 
 

Note 19: Water licences 
 

   

Permanent water licences – at cost 7,554 7,467 

   

Balance at 1 July 7,467 8,692 

Acquired during the year 87 751 

Impairment during the year - (901) 

Disposed during the year - (1,075) 

Balance at 30 June 7,554 7,467 
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Note 20: Other non-current assets 
 

 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

 

Prepayments 435 - 

 435 - 

 
Note 21: Assets pledged as security 
 
In accordance with the security arrangements of liabilities, as disclosed in notes 23 and 27 to the financial statements, the majority of tangible 
assets of the Group have been covered by a first registered fixed and floating charge to the lending institutions, with the exception of assets 
under hire purchase arrangements. The following assets have been pledged as security:  
 

 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

Inventory  191,878 172,234 

Receivables 41,698 35,613 

Property, plant and equipment  (including Biological Assets) 123,242 126,355 

 356,818 334,202 

 
The holder of the security does not have the right to sell or re-pledge the assets other than in an event of default. Assets under finance lease are 
pledged as security.  
 

Note 22: Current trade and other payables 
 

   
Trade payables(i) 28,821 23,595 
Goods and services tax payable 2,146 996 
Value added tax payable 611 297 
Other accounts payable and accruals 9,418 8,131 

 40,996 33,019 

 
(i) The average credit period on purchase of goods is 35 days (2013: 34 days); no interest is charged on trade payables.  The Group has financial 

risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe. 
 

Note 23: Current borrowings 
 

Secured, at amortised cost:   

Commerical Bills (i) (note 42(b)) 1,000 - 

Finance lease liabilities (ii) 2,606 2,305 

 3,606 2,305 

   

(i) Commercial bills with a variable interest rate were issued in 2014.  The current weighted average interest rate on the bills is 5.47% (2013: 7.73%).  The bank overdraft and commercial bills 
are subject to fixed and floating charges over the majority of the Group’s assets (refer note 21). 

  

(ii) Secured by assets subject to the finance lease.   

 

Note 24: Other current financial liabilities 
 

Hedge liabilities – forward exchange contracts and foreign exchange options 787 1,073 

Interest rate swap 314 486 

 1,101 1,559 

   

Note 25: Current provisions 
 

Directors retirement benefit (note 30) 149 149 
Onerous contracts (note 30) 1,292 2,045 
Employee entitlements (i) 4,138 3,867 

 5,579 6,061 

 
(i)  The current provision for employee entitlements includes $3,308,074 (2013 : $3,180,735) of annual leave and vested long service leave 

entitlements. 
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 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

Note 26: Other current liabilities 
 

Income in advance 535 48 

 535 48 

 
Note 27: Non-current borrowings 
 
Secured - at amortised cost: 

  

Commercial Bills (i) (note 42(b)) 110,000 135,700 

Accrued interest 445 813 

 110,445 136,513 

Finance lease liabilities (ii) 1,904 4,235 

 112,349 140,748 

 
(i) Commercial bills with a variable interest rate were issued in 2014.  The current weighted average interest rate on the bills is 5.47% (2013: 

7.73%).  The bank overdraft and commercial bills are subject to fixed and floating charges over the majority of the Group’s assets (refer note 
21). 

(ii) Secured by assets subject to the finance lease. 

 
Note 28: Non-current other financial liabilities 
 
Interest rate swap 112 430 

 112 430 

 

Note 29: Non-current provisions 
 

Employee entitlements 1,081 1,030 
Onerous contracts (note 30) 2,410 6,945 

 3,491 7,975 

 

Note 30: Provisions 
 

 Consoldiated 
 

 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

 Onerous Directors Onerous Directors 

 Contracts (i) Retirement 
Benefit (ii) 

Contracts (i) Retirement 
Benefit (ii) 

Balance at beginning of year 8,990 149 15,818 149 

Reductions arising from payments/other sacrifices of future 
economic benefits (1,530) - (3,418) - 

Unwinding of discount and effect of changes in the discount rate 590 - 990 - 

Reductions resulting from re-measurement, contract re-negotiation 
or settlement without cost 

 
(4,348) 

 
- (4,400) - 

Balance at end of year 3,702 149 8,990 149 

 

(i) The provision for onerous contracts represents the present value of the future grape payments that the Group is presently obligated to make in 
respect of onerous grape purchase contracts under non-cancellable grape agreements, less the estimate of the market value of the grapes.  
The estimate may vary in future as a result of changes in the market. 

 
(ii) The provision for Directors’ Retirement represents the present value of the directors’ best estimate of the costs likely to be incurred as a result 

of either termination or retirement of directors. 

 

30.1 Defined Contribution plans 
 
The total expense recognised in the statement of comprehensive income of $2,855,000 (2013: $2,595,000) represents contributions payable to 
these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans. As at 30 June 2014, contributions of $118,744 (2013: $111,964) due in respect 
of the reporting period had not been paid over to the plans. The amounts were paid in July 2014. 
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Note 31: Foreign currency balances 
 
The following table details the forward foreign currency contracts and foreign exchange option contracts as at 30 June 2014: 
 
Currency Exchange rate 

 
Foreign currency FC 

’000 

Contract value 
AUD $ 000 

Fair value 
AUD $000 

     
Forward Contracts:     
Sell GB Pounds 0.6427 1,000 1,587 (73) 
Sell GB Pounds 0.5770 1,000 1,733 (86) 
Sell GB Pounds 0.5757 1,000 1,737 (96) 
Sell GB Pounds 0.5649 500 885 (36) 
Sell GB Pounds 0.5628 1,000 1,776 (71) 
Sell GB Pounds 0.5598 500 893 (33) 
     
Sell Euro 0.6789 200 295 3 
Sell Euro 0.6785 40 59 - 
Sell Euro 0.6730 400 594 6 
Buy Euro 0.6520 (200) (307) (10) 
Sell Euro 0.7422 200 269 (26) 
Buy Euro 0.6462 (200) (310) (9) 
Sell Euro 0.7324 200 273 (26) 
     
Option Contracts:     
Sell GB Pounds 0.5780 – 0.7000 3,000 5,190 (298) 
Sell Euro 0.7055 – 0.8600 400 567 (31) 
 
The following table details the forward foreign currency contracts and foreign exchange option contracts as at 30 June 2013: 
 
Currency Exchange rate 

 
Foreign currency FC 

’000 

Contract value 
AUD $ 000 

Fair value 
AUD $000 

     
Forward Contracts:     
Sell GB Pounds 0.6427 2,000 3,175 (75) 
Sell GB Pounds 0.6125 1,000 1,632 632 
Buy GB Pounds 0.5894 1,000 1,696 (696) 
Sell GB Pounds 0.6620 2,000 3,022 1,022 
Buy GB Pounds 0.5856 2,000 3,415 (1,412) 
Sell Euro 0.8115 750 949 (31) 
Sell Euro 0.6865 500 728 228 
Buy Euro 0.6826 500 732 (232) 
Sell Euro 0.7373 400 545 145 
Buy Euro 0.6491 400 615 (215) 
     
Option Contracts:     
Sell GB Pounds 0.5635 – 0.6300 2,000 3,549 (6) 
Sell GB Pounds 0.5780 – 0.7000 6,000 10,380 (306) 
Sell Euro 0.7030 – 0.7800 750 1,067 (30) 
Sell Euro 0.7055 – 0.8600 1,200 1,701 (97) 
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Note 32: Issued capital 
 

 Consolidated  

 2014 2013   

 $’000 $’000   

232,262,382 Fully paid ordinary shares (2013: 132,720,637) 443,266 403,155   

     

 Consolidated 

 2014 2014 2013 2013 

 Number $’000 Number $’000 

     

Fully paid ordinary share capital     

Beginning of financial year 132,720,637 403,155 131,993,692 402,792 

Issued during the year     

Share Issue 79,633,650 33,446 - - 

Placement 19,908,095 8,361 - - 

Share issue costs - (1,696) - - 

Shares issued under dividend re-investment plan - - 726,945 363 

End of financial year 232,262,382 443,266 132,720,637 403,155 

 
Changes to the Corporations Act 2001 abolished the authorised capital and par value concept in relation to share capital from 1 July 1998.  
Therefore, the company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital and issued shares do not have a par value. 
All fully paid ordinary shares carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends.  
 
Share Options 
Details of share options granted and on issue are disclosed in Note 8.  
Share options or performance rights carry no rights to dividends and no voting rights.  
 
Note 33: Reserves 
 
 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

 
   

Employee equity-settled benefits (i) 1,497 1,578 

Hedging reserve (ii) (784) (948) 

Foreign currency translation reserve (iii) 91 40 

 804 670 

 

(i) The employee equity-settled benefits reserve arises on the granting of shares and share options to directors and employees.  The fair value of 
share based payments provided to directors and employees of the company are recorded within the reserve account and amounts are 
released into issued capital as options are exercised.  Further details on share based payments are made in Note 8. 

(ii) The hedging reserve represents hedging gains and losses recognised on the effective portion of cash flow hedges.  The cumulative deferred 
gain or loss on the hedge is recognised in the profit and loss when the hedge transaction impacts the profit or loss, or is included as a basis 
adjustment to the non- financial hedged item, consistent with the applicable accounting policy. 

(iii) The foreign currency translation reserve contains exchange differences relating to the translation from the functional currencies of the Group’s 
foreign controlled entities into Australian dollars. 

 
Movements in reserves balances are disclosed in the Statement of Changes in Equity. 

 
Note 34: Accumulated losses 
 

   

Balance at beginning of financial year (162,926) (166,564) 

Net profit 10,544 7,070 

Dividends paid (3,451) (3,432) 

End of financial year (155,833) (162,926) 
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Note 35: Earnings per share 
 
 Consolidated  
 2014 2013 
 Cents Cents 
 Per share Per share 

   

Basic earnings per share 5.1 5.3 

Diluted earnings per share 5.1 5.3 

Basic earnings per share:   

 

The earnings and weighted average numbers of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as follows: 

   

 $’000 $’000 

   

Profit for the year  10,544 7,070 

   

 2014 2013 

 ‘000 ’000 

 Number of Number of 

 Shares Shares 

Basic earnings per share   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share (i) 207,738 132,438 

   

Dilutive earnings per share   

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share (i) 207,738 132,438 
   
(i) The basic and diluted EPS are the same.     

 

Note 36: Dividends  
 

 2014 2013 
 Cents Total Cents Total 
 per share $’000 per share $’000 

     

Fully paid ordinary shares:     

Interim dividend – franked to 30%  -  - 

Final dividend – franked to 30% 2.6 3,451 2.6 3,432 

  3,451  3,432 

     

Adjusted franking account balance   11,109  12,588 

 
In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2014, a fully franked final dividend of 2.2 cents per share was declared on 27th August 2014 and will 
be paid on 19th November 2014.  In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2013, a final dividend of 2.6 cents per share was declared on 23rd 
August 2013 and was paid on 18th November 2013.  There are no income tax consequences of unrecognised dividends. 
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Note 37: Leases and other commitments 
 
(a) Non-cancellable operating leases 

 The Group leases the following assets under normal economic terms. All operating lease contracts contain market review clauses in the event 
the Group exercises its option to renew. 

 
 - Vineyards  

 - Winery equipment 

 

Operating leases relate to leases of plant and equipment with lease terms of between 3 and 7 years, 

 
The following sets out payments recognised as an expense  

 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

   
Minimum lease payments  78,168 82,534 

 
 The following sets out the commitments to future lease payments relating to operating leases: 
 

- not longer than 1 year 10,607 11,219 

- longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 38,805 38,930 

- longer than 5 years 28,756 32,385 

 78,168 82,534 

 

In respect of non-cancellable operating leases the following liabilities have been recognised: 
 

Current 7 171 

Non Current 350 2,131 

 357 2,302 

   
 (b) Finance leases 
 Finance leases relate to plant and equipment with a lease term of up to 5 years, expiring between 30 June 2014 and March 2018. 
 
 Minimum Future Present Value of Minimum 

 Lease payments Future Lease payments 

 Consolidated Consolidated 

  

 2014 2013 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

No Later than 1 year 2,919 2,820 2,606 2,336 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 2,017 4,637 1,904 4,204 

Minimum lease payments* 4,936 7,457 4,510 6,540 
Less future finance changes (426) (917) - - 

Present value of minimum lease payments 4,510 6,540 4,510 6,540 

Current borrowings (note 23)   2,606 2,305 
Non-Current borrowings (note 27)   1,904 4,235 

   4,510 6,540 

 

 * Minimum lease payments include the aggregate of all lease payments and any guaranteed residual. 

 

 The fair value of the finance lease liabilities is approximately equal to their carrying amount. 

 

(c) Capital expenditure commitments 

 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

 Property, Plant and Equipment   

 - not longer than 1 year - 83 

   

 - 83 

 

Note 38: Contingent liabilities 
 
There are no material contingent liabilities the company is aware of as at the date of this report. 
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Note 39: Subsidiaries 
 

Name of entity Country of Incorporation Ownership of Interest 

  2014 2013 

  % % 

Parent Entity    

Australian Vintage Ltd Australia   

    

Controlled Entity    

Simeon Wines Pty Ltd (1) Australia 100 100 

Vintners Australia Pty Limited (1) Australia 100 100 

Barossa Valley Wine Company Pty Limited (1) Australia 100 100 

Coldridge Development Pty Limited (1) Australia 100 100 

McGuigan Simeon Wines Pty Ltd (1) Australia 100 100 

Mourquong Pty Limited (1) Australia 100 100 

Buronga Hill Pty Limited (1) Australia 100 100 

Austvin Pty Ltd (1) Australia 100 100 

Australian Flavours Pty Limited (1) Australia 100 100 

Austvin Holdings Pty Limited (1) Australia 100 100 

Australian Vintage (Domestic) Pty Ltd (1) Australia 100 100 

Miranda Wines Pty Limited (1) Australia 100 100 

Miranda Wines (Leasing) Pty Limited (1) Australia 100 100 

Miranda Family Investments Pty Limited (1) Australia 100 100 

Miranda Wines (Europe) Limited (2) United Kingdom - 100 

Miranda Wines Holdings Pty Ltd (1)  Australia 100 100 

Australian Vintage (Europe) Limited United Kingdom 100 100 

MGW Executive Options Pty Limited (1) Australia 100 100 

 
(1) These wholly-owned controlled entities have entered into a deed of cross guarantee with Australian Vintage Ltd pursuant to ASIC Class 

Order 98/1418 and are relieved from the requirement to prepare and lodge an audited financial report. 

As a condition of this class order, Australian Vintage Ltd has guaranteed to pay any deficiency in the event of winding up of any of its 
controlled entities. The controlled entities have also given a similar guarantee in the event Australian Vintage Ltd is wound up. 

These wholly-owned controlled entities all form part of the tax consolidated group.  Australian Vintage Ltd is the head entity within the tax 
consolidated group. 

 
 (2) De-registered 20

th
 August 2013  
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Note 39: Subsidiaries (continued) 
 
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated statement of financial position of the entities party to the deed of cross 
guarantee are: 
 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income – Closed Group 
For the financial year ended 30 June 2014 
 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $’000 $’000 

Revenue  214,753 208,549 

Cost of sales  (155,745) (151,380) 

Gross Profit  59,008 57,169 

    

Fair value of grapes picked during the financial year less estimated costs to sell  2,713 3,171 

Investment income  532 403 

Other gains and losses  2,002 917 

Distribution expenses  (11,977) (10,856) 

Gain on provision for onerous contracts  4,106 4,223 

Sales and marketing expenses  (24,984) (23,646) 

Administration expenses  (7,154) (6,531) 

Loss on foreign exchange  - (459) 

Finance costs  (9,139) (13,910) 

    

Profit before income tax   15,107 10,481 

Income tax expense  (4,563) (3,411) 

Net profit for the year  10,544 7,070 

    

Other comprehensive income/(loss) net of income tax:    

Loss on interest rate swaps  491 1,453 

Valuation of foreign exchange hedges  (257) (1,571) 

Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations  73 45 

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income  (92) 21 

Other comprehensive income / (loss) for the year, net of income tax  215 (52) 

Total comprehensive income for the year  10,759 7,018 



Notes to the financial statements 
For the financial year ended 30 June 2014 
 

Financial Report Year Ended 30 June 2014   - 55 -  
Australian Vintage Ltd 
 

 

Note 39 : Subsidiaries (continued) 
 
 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position – Closed Group 
As at 30 June 2014 

 
  Consolidated 
  2014 2013 
  $’000 $’000 

Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents  4,057 703 

Trade and other receivables  41,698 35,613 

Inventories  168,142 151,376 

Current tax assets  49 49 

Other  3,938 3,906 

Total Current Assets  217,884 191,647 

Non-Current Assets    

Inventories  23,736 20,858 

Other financial assets  59 59 

Biological assets  33,184 33,184 

Property, plant and equipment  90,058 93,171 

Goodwill  37,685 37,685 

Other intangible assets  7,744 7,405 

Water Licences  7,554 7,467 

Deferred tax assets  52,100 52,288 

Other  435 - 

Total Non-Current Assets  252,555 252,117 

Total Assets  470,439 443,764 

Current Liabilities    

Trade and other payables  40,979 33,004 

Borrowings  3,606 2,305 

Other financial liabilities  1,101 1,901 

Provisions  5,579 6,061 

Other  535 48 

Total Current Liabilities  51,800 43,319 

Non-Current Liabilities    

Borrowings  112,349 140,748 

Deferred tax liabilities  14,491 10,773 

Other financial liabilities  112 88 

Provisions  3,491 7,975 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  130,443 159,584 

Total Liabilities  182,243 202,903 

Net Assets  288,196 240,861 

Equity    

Issued capital  443,177 403,066 

Reserves  824 693 

Accumulated losses  (155,805) (162,898) 

Total Equity  288,196 240,861 
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Note 40: Segment information  
 

The Company’s reportable segments are as follows:  

  

Australia / North America Packaged 

 - supplies packaged wine within Australia, New Zealand, Asia and North America through retail and wholesale channels. 

 

UK / Europe 

  - supplies packaged and bulk wine in the United Kingdom and Europe through retail and distributer channels. 

 

Cellar Door  

  - supplies wine direct to the consumer through regional outlets. 

 

Australasia / North America bulk wine and processing 

  - supplies bulk wine, concentrate and winery processing services throughout Australia, New Zealand, Asia and North America. 

 

Vineyards 

  - provides vineyard management and maintenance services within Australia and includes biological assets income. 

 

The revenue reported represents revenue generated from external customers.   

 

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3.  Segment revenue 

represents revenue generated from external customers.  There were no inter-segment sales in the current year (2013 : Nil). 

 

Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation of share of profits of associates, investment and interest revenue, 

gain on onerous contracts, impairment of water licences, finance costs and income tax expense.  This is the measure reported to the chief operating 

decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance. 

 
The following is an analysis of the group’s revenue and results by reportable operating segment for the period under review: 

      

Segments  
Segments Revenue, Results and other segmental information 
 

     

 Revenue Revenue Results Results   

 2014 2013 2014 2013     

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000     

         

Australasia / North America 
packaged 

 
88,855 

 
79,903 

 
7,956 

 
5,214 

    

UK / Europe 87,560 88,847 3,903 3,350     

Cellar door  7,538 6,843 1,213 708     

Australasia / North America bulk 
wine and processing 

 
27,018 

 
29,524 

 
3,384 

 
8,000 

    

Vineyards 3,782 3,432 3,237 3,485     

Unallocated - -  -     

Total 214,753 208,549 19,693 20,757     

         

Finance costs – interest paid   (8,549) (12,920)     

Finance costs – interest un-
wind 

  (590) (990)     

Impairment of water licences   - (901)     

Gain on provision for onerous 
contracts 

   
4,106 

 
4,223 

    

Interest received   447 312     

Profit before tax   15,107 10,481     
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Note 40: Segment information (continued) 
 

Geographical Segments 

 Revenue from customers  

 2014 2013   

 $’000 $’000   

     

Australia 107,345 99,091   

UK / Europe 87,560 88,847   

North America 6,272 7,926   

Other 13,576 12,685   

 214,753 208,549   

 

The group has sales to three major customers who individually account for greater than 10% of annual sales.  The total sales for these 

customers were $88.6M (2013: $96.4M).  Of these sales, $52.1M (2013: $61.0M) is included within the UK / Europe division and $36.5M (2013: 

$35.4M) is included within the Australasia / North America Packaged division. 

 

Note 41: Related party transactions 
 

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company are eliminated on consolidation 

and are not disclosed in this note. Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties are disclosed below.  

 
(a) Equity interests in related parties 
 Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in controlled entities are disclosed in note 39 to the financial statements. 
 
(b) Key management personnel remuneration 
 Details of key management personnel compensation are disclosed in note 7 to the financial statements. 
 
(c) Key management personnel equity holdings 
 Fully paid ordinary shares issued by Australian Vintage Ltd and held by key management personnel are as follows: 
 
 

2014 Balance at 
1/7/13 

No. 

Granted as 
remuneration 

 
No. 

Received on 
exercise of 

options 
No. 

Net other 
change 

No. 

Balance at 
30/6/14 

No. 

Balance held 
nominally 

No. 

Ian D Ferrier 650,159 - - 390,097 1,040,256 - 

Brian J McGuigan 308,670 - - 178,602 487,272 - 

Perry R Gunner 265,670 - - 252,042 517,712 - 

Richard H Davis - - - 110,000 110,000 - 

Neil McGuigan 150,000 - - 220,000 370,000 - 

Michael Noack 2,043 - - 72,398 74,441 - 

Flora Saris 30,000 - - - 30,000 - 

 1,406,542 - - 1,223,139 2,629,681  

 

2013 Balance at 
1/7/12 

No. 

Granted as 
remuneration 

 
No. 

Received on 
exercise of 

options 
No. 

Net other 
change 

No. 

Balance at 
30/6/13 

No. 

Balance held 
nominally 

No. 

Ian D Ferrier 618,044 - - 32,115 650,159 - 

Brian J McGuigan 308,670 - - - 308,670 - 

Perry R Gunner 265,670 - - - 265,670 - 

Neil McGuigan 150,000 - - - 150,000 - 

Michael Noack 2,043 - - - 2,043 - 

Flora Saris 30,000 - - - 30,000 - 

 1,374,427 - - 32,115 1,406,542  
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Note 41: Related party transactions (continued) 

 
 
Performance Rights issued by Australian Vintage Ltd and held by key management personnel are as follows: 

2014 Balance 
@ 1/7/13 

No. 

Granted as 
remuneration 

No. 

Exercised 
No. 

Other 
Change 

No. 

Bal @ 
30/6/14 

No. 

Bal 
Vested 

@ 
30/6/14 

No. 

Vested but 
Not 

exercisable 
No. 

Vested and 
exercisable 

No. 

Options 
Vested 
during 

the 
year 
No. 

Neil McGuigan 395,257 257,003 - - 652,260 - - - - 

Michael Noack 158,103 128,502 - - 286,605 - - - - 

Cameron Ferguson 197,628 128,502 - - 326,130 - - - - 

Flora Sarris 158,103 102,801 - - 260,904 - - - - 

Julian Dyer - 128,502 - - 128,502 - - - - 

 909,091 745,310 - - 1,654,401 - - - - 

          

2013 Balance 
@ 1/7/12 

No. 

Granted as 
remuneration 

No. 

Exercised 
No. 

Other 
Change 

No. 

Bal @ 
30/6/13 

No. 

Bal 
Vested 

@ 
30/6/13 

No. 

Vested but 
Not 

exercisable 
No. 

Vested and 
exercisable 

No. 

Options 
Vested 
during 

the 
year 
No. 

Neil McGuigan - 395,257 - - 395,257 - - - - 

Michael Noack - 158,103 - - 158,103 - - - - 

Cameron Ferguson - 197,628 - - 197,628 - - - - 

Flora Sarris - 158,103 - - 158,103 - - - - 

Julian Dyer - - - - - - - - - 

 - 909,091 - - 909,091 - - - - 

 

All performance rights granted to key management personnel during the financial year were made in accordance with the provisions of the 
Australian Vintage Ltd Performance Rights and Options Plan. 

Each executive performance right converts into 1 ordinary share of Australian Vintage Ltd on vesting date if performance objectives have been met. 
During the financial year, no performance rights were exercised by key management personnel. 

Share options issued by Australian Vintage Ltd and held by key management personnel at 30th June 2013 (Nil at 30th June 2014) are as follows: 

2013 Balance 
@ 1/7/12 

No. 

Granted as 
remuneration 

No. 

Exercised 
No. 

Other 
Change 

No. 

Bal @ 
30/6/13 

No. 

Bal 
Vested 

@ 
30/6/13 

No. 

Vested but 
Not 

exercisable 
No. 

Vested and 
exercisable 

No. 

Options 
Vested 
during 

the year 
No. 

Neil McGuigan 86,420 - - (86,420) - - - - - 

Paul Schaafsma (i) 49,383 - - (49,383) - - - - - 

Michael Noack 49,383 - - (49,383) - - - - - 

Cameron Ferguson 49,383 - - (49,383) - - - - - 

Flora Sarris - - - - - - - - - 

Julian Dyer (ii) - - - - - - - - - 

 234,569 - - (234,569) - - - - - 

 
(i) Resigned 21st August 2012 
(ii) Appointed 3rd September 2012 

 
All share options granted to key management personnel during the financial year were made in accordance with the provisions o f the Australian 
Vintage Ltd Executive Option Acquisition Plan. 

All ordinary shares issued to the directors during the financial year were made in accordance with the provisions of the non-executive directors’ 
share scheme. These shares were issued as bonus shares as part of compensation under the non-executive director share scheme. 
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Note 41: Related party transactions (continued) 

 

(d) Other transactions with key management personnel 
 

 2014 2013 
 $ $ 

   
Consolidated revenue includes the following amounts arising from transactions with key 
management personnel of the Group or their related parties:  

  

Revenue  35,660 66,137 
   

   
Consolidated profit includes the following expenses arising with key management personnel of the 
Group or their related parties:  

  

Cost of goods sold 502,962 492,572 
   
Total assets arising from transactions other than loans and amounts receivable in relation to equity 
instruments with key management personnel:  

  

Current - - 
Allowance for doubtful receivables  - - 
Non-current   - - 

 - - 

 
 

(i) During the year the company entered into the following transactions with entities associated with Brian McGuigan: 

(a) The company purchased grapes from Australian Horticultural Management Pty Limited (“AHM”) to the value of $140,710 (2013: 
$142,430) on normal commercial terms.  A balance of $93,564 (2013: $94,696) is owed by the company at 30 June 2014. 

(b) In the prior year, the company sold bottled wine to AHM to the value of $20,975 (2014 : Nil) on normal commercial terms. 

(c) In the prior year, the company sold bulk wine to AHM to the value of $16,498 (2014 : Nil) on normal commercial terms. 

(d) In the prior year, the company sold bottled wine to Premier Wines 4 Pty Ltd to the value of $10,356 (2014 : Nil) on commercial terms. 

(e) McGuigan Nominees Pty Ltd holds a minority interest in an entity which received $300,710 (2013: $284,385) from the company for 
fruit, paid $22,046 (2013: $15,614) to the company for the contract processing of fruit to wine and received $59,442 (2013 : 
$65,757) from the company for the sale of bulk wine.  All transactions were on the same terms and conditions as other investors in 
that project. 

(ii) During the year the company entered into the following transactions with Woodnibs Pty Ltd and HVV Management Pty Ltd (entities 
associated with Neil McGuigan): 

(a) The company sold concentrate to the value of $2,800 (2013 : $2,694) on normal commercial terms. 

(b) The company sold grape skins to the value of $2,564 (2013 : Nil) on normal commercial terms. 

(c) The company charged rent to the value of $8,250 (2013 : Nil) on normal commercial terms. 

(d) The company paid for vineyard services to the value of $2,100 (2013 : Nil) on normal commercial terms. 

 
 (e) Parent Entity 
 The ultimate parent company in the wholly-owned group is Australian Vintage Ltd. 
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Note 42: Notes to the cash flow statement 
 
(a) Reconciliation of cash 
 For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and investments in money 

market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in the cash flow 
statement is reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as follows: 

 
 Consolidated 
 2014 2013 
 $’000 $’000 

   

Cash  4,202 995 

 
(b) Financing Facilities 
  

Unsecured bank overdraft facility, reviewed annually and payable at call:   
 Amount Used - - 

 Amount Unused 5,000 5,000 

 5,000 5,000 

Reducing lease facility:   

 Amount Used 3,661 5,841 

 Amount Unused - - 

 3,661 5,841 

Unsecured revolving lease facility:   

 Amount Used 273 - 

 Amount Unused 77 250 

 350 250 

Bank Guarantee/Surrender facility:   

 Amount Used 1,543 1,351 

 Amount Unused 1,107 1,399 

 2,650 2,750 

Corporate purchasing card facility:   

 Amount Used 8 216 

 Amount Unused 492 284 

 500 500 

Cash advance facility:   

 Amount Used 111,000 135,700 

 Amount Unused 4,000 12,000 

 115,000 147,700 

Total facility 127,161 162,041 

 
(a) Non-cash financing and investing activities / businesses acquired 

 
 During the half-year reporting period Australian Vintage Ltd issued 99,541,745 ordinary shares (2013 : Nil) for $40,111 thousand net of issue 

costs (2013 : Nil).   
 

There were no shares issued to Directors as remuneration for the year ending 30
th
 June 2014 (2013 : Nil).    

 
 Australian Vintage Ltd operates a “Performance Rights and Options Plan”.  This long term incentive plan provides the right to an issue of shares 

subject to the achievement of set growth rates in earnings per share over a 4 year period.  During the half-year reporting period 1,156,514 
(2013 : 1,383,400) options were issued.  These rights had a fair value at grant date of $0.38 per option (2013 : $0.27 per option).  There were 
no other share options issued or exercised during the reporting period (2013: Nil).   

 
During the financial year the company did not issue any shares (2013 : 726,945 for $363,000) under it’s Dividend Reinvestment Plan. 
 
There were no other movements in ordinary share capital or issued capital in the current or prior period. 
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Note 42: Notes to the cash flow statement (continued) 
 
(d) Reconciliation of profit / (loss) for the period to net cash flows from operating activities 
 

 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

Profit from ordinary activities after income tax 10,544 7,070 

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 7,074 7,070 

(Profit) / Loss on sale of non-current assets (178) 32 

Bad and doubtful debts 97 (181) 

Interest on finance leases 528 661 

Share option costs expensed - 81 

Impairment of water licences - 901 

   

Changes in net assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisition and disposal of 
businesses 
(Increase)/decrease in assets 

  

Trade and other receivables (8,025) 4,115 

Inventories (19,644) (19,732) 

Other current assets (184) 589 

Prepaid interest (368) 1,325 

Deferred tax assets 188 2,835 

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities   

Current trade and other payables 7,977 (3,899) 

Provisions (5,850) (5,748) 

Deferred tax liabilities 3,718 541 

Other 487 6 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (3,636) (4,334) 
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Note 43: Financial instruments 
 

(a)  Capital risk management 
 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to 
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.  The group’s general strategy remains unchanged from 2013. 
 
The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in notes 23 and 27, cash and cash equivalents 
and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and accumulated losses as disclosed in notes 32, 33 
and 34  respectively.  The Group operates primarily through distributor relationships established in the markets in which the Group trades. 
None of the Group's entities are subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
Operating cash flows are used to maintain and expand the group's assets, as well as to make the routine outflows of tax, dividends and 
repayment of maturing debt. The Group's policy is to borrow centrally to meet anticipated future funding requirements.  
 
Gearing ratio 
 
The Board reviews the capital structure on an annual basis. As a part of this review the Board considers the cost of capital and the risks 
associated with each class of capital. The Group has a target gearing ratio of 40% in line with the industry norm, which is determined as the 
proportion of net debt to equity.  
 
Based on recommendations of the Board, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share 
issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt. 
  
The gearing ratio at year end was as follows: 

 

 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

Financial assets   

Debt (i) 115,955 143,053 

Cash and cash equivalents (net of bank overdraft) (4,202) (995) 

Net Debt 111,753 142,058 

   

Equity (ii) 288,237 240,899 

Net debt to equity ratio 39% 59% 

 
(i) Debt is defined as long- and short-term borrowings, as detailed in notes 23 and 27. 

(ii) Equity includes all capital and reserves. 

 The Group is also subject to bank covenants with its primary financier as follows: 

 - Leverage (Net Debt / EBITDA) must be below pre-defined levels. 

 - Interest coverage (EBITDA / Interest) must be above pre-defined levels. 

 - Gearing (Gross debt / Gross debt plus Equity) must be below pre-defined levels. 

Significant accounting policies 
 

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted (including the criteria for recognition, the bases of measurement, and the 
bases for recognition of income and expenses) for each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 3. 

 
(b) Categories of financial instruments 
 

Financial assets   

Available for sale 59 59 

Loans and receivables 41,698 35,613 

Cash and cash equivalents  4,202 995 

   

Financial liabilities    

Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships 1,213 1,989 

Carried at amortised cost 156,951 176,072 

 

 

At the reporting date there are no significant concentrations of credit risk relating to loans and receivables at fair value through profit or loss.  
 

The carrying amount reflected above represents the company’s and the Groups maximum exposure to credit risk for such loans and 

receivables. 
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Note 43: Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(c) Financial risk management objectives 

 

 The Group’s Corporate Treasury function provides services to the business, co-ordinates access to domestic and international financial 
markets, monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through internal risk reports which analyses 
exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and price 
risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk.  

 
 The Group seeks to minimise the effects of these risks, by using derivative financial instruments to hedge these risk exposures. The use of 

financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the board of directors, which provide principles on foreign exchange risk, 
interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of financial derivatives and non-derivative financial instruments, and the investment of excess liquidity. 
Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed on a continuous basis. The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, 
including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes. 

  

(d) Market risk  

  
The Group's activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates (refer note 31) and interest rates 
(refer note 43 (f)). The Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign 
currency risk, including: 

 

 foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arising on the export of wine to the United States, Europe and United 
Kingdom; and 

 interest rate swaps to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates. 
 
 There has been no change to the Group's exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk from the 

previous period. 
 

 
(e)  Foreign currency risk management 
 
 The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. Exchange 

rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters utilising forward exchange contracts and foreign exchange options. 
 
 The carrying amount of the Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date are as follows: 
 

 Liabilities Assets 

 2014 2013 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

US dollars - 92 559 88 

GB pounds 7,664 1,105 10,394 4,135 

Euro - - 816 693 

Canadian Dollars  - - 1,174 757 

 
 Foreign currency sensitivity analysis 

 
The Group is exposed to US dollars (USD), GB pounds, EURO’s and Canadian Dollars. 
 
The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Australian Dollar against the relevant foreign 
currencies.  
 
10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management and represents management’s assessment 
of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated 
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates.  
 
The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of the loan is in 
a currency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower. A positive number indicates an increase in profit or loss and other equity 
where the Australian Dollar weakens 10% against the relevant currency. For a 10% strengthening of the Australian dollar against the currency, 
there would be a comparable impact on the profit or equity and the balances below would be negative.  
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Note 43: Financial instruments (continued) 
 
For a weakening or strengthening of the Australian Dollar against the respective currency, the impact on the net profit after tax would be as 
follows: 

 

 Consolidated 

 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

Increase (Deterioration) in foreign exchange rate by 10%   

Profit or loss – GBP Impact (145) (192) 

Profit or loss – USD Impact  (1) 6 

Profit or loss – EURO Impact  (52) (47) 

Profit or loss – CAD Impact  (75) (48) 

   

Decrease (Improvement) in foreign exchange rate by 10%   

Profit or loss – GBP Impact  178 236 

Profit or loss – USD Impact  1 (7) 

Profit or loss – EURO Impact  63 58 

Profit or loss – CAD Impact  91 59 

  
 
 Forward foreign exchange contracts – note 31 
 It is the policy of the Group to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to cover specific foreign currency payments. The Group also 

enters into forward foreign exchange contracts to manage the risk associated with anticipated sales and purchase transactions out 12 months 
which is based on 50-75% (50% covered at 30

th
 June 2014) coverage of highly probable sales and 0-50% (5% covered at 30

th
 June 2014) of 

coverage on foreign currency sales out 13-24 months.  Foreign currency expenses are estimated and the net exposure is hedged.  Basis 
adjustments are made to the carrying amounts of non-financial hedged items when the anticipated sale or purchase transaction takes place.  

 
 The Group has entered into contracts to supply wine to customers in the UK, Europe and United States. The Group has entered into forward 

foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk arising from these anticipated future transactions, which are designated as cash 
flow hedges. 

 
 As at reporting date the aggregate amount of unrealised profits under forward foreign exchange contracts deferred in the hedging reserve 

relating to the exposure on anticipated future transactions is $695 thousand loss before tax (2013: profit of $439 thousand before tax). It is 
anticipated that the sales will take place in the next financial year at which stage the amount deferred in equity will be released in profit or loss. 

 
Outstanding contracts Year end 

exchange rate 
Foreign currency 

FC ‘000 
Notional value 

$ 000 
Fair value 

$ 000 

 30/06/14 30/06/13 30/06/14 30/06/13 30/06/14 30/06/13 30/06/14 30/06/13 

Cash flow hedges 
Buy Euro 
Less than 3 months 0.6879 0.7028 200 600 295 816 3 (15) 
3 to 6 months   440 1,100 653 1,530 6 (45) 
6 to 9 months   200 600 306 818 (36) (25) 
9 to 12 months   200 500 310 714 (66) (30) 
 
Buy GB Pounds 
Less than 3 months 0.5505 0.6011 2,000 3,500 3,463 5,888 (180) (171) 
3 to 6 months   3,000 2,000 5,197 3,286 (300) (200) 
6 to 9 months   1,000 2,500 1,587 4,077 (72) (187) 
9 to 12 months   1,500 1,000 2,662 1,730 (141) (50) 
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Note 43: Financial instruments (continued) 
 
(f) Interest rate risk management 
 

The company and the Group are exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow funds at floating interest rates. The risk is 
managed by the Group by the use of interest rate swap contracts. Hedging activities are evaluated regularly to align with interest rate views 
and defined risk appetite; ensuring optimal hedging strategies are applied, by either positioning the balance sheet or protecting interest 
expense through different interest rate cycles. 
 
It is the policy of the group to designate the Interest Rate Swap as a hedge against the variability in the cash flow arising from future changes 
in the interest rate.   
 
The company policy requires fixed interest cover on 70% of all outstanding average net debt usage. 

 
 Interest rate sensitivity analysis 
 
 The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivative and non-derivative instruments 

at the reporting date and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting 
period. A 50 basis point increase or decrease represents management's assessment of the possible change in interest rates. 

 
At reporting date, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s: 
 

 net profit after tax would increase and decrease by $244,000 (2013: increase/decrease by $313,000). This is mainly attributable to the 
Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowing which are not covered by the interest rate swap agreements.  

 
 Interest rate swap contracts 

 
Under interest rate swap contracts, the Group agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate interest amounts calculated 
on agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts enable the Group to mitigate the risk of changing interest rates on the cash flow 
exposures on the issued variable rate debt held. The fair value of interest rate swaps at the reporting date is determined by discounting the 
future cash flows at reporting date. The average interest rate is based on the outstanding balances at the end of the financial year. 
 
At balance date, the Group and the Company had four (2013 : four) interest rate swap agreements with a notional amount of $95 million (2013: 
$100 million), as follows: 

 

Expiry Date Currency Amount 

Pay Receive 

Rate 
Rollover 

Frequency Rate 

26-Nov-14 AUD $   25,000,000 2.87% Monthly AUD-BBR-BBSY 

03-Sep-15 AUD $   25,000,000 3.40% Quarterly AUD-BBR-BBSY 

18-Jan-16 AUD $   20,000,000 2.98% Monthly AUD-BBR-BBSY 

  $ 70,000,000    

      

26-Nov-15  (i) AUD $   25,000,000 3.00% Monthly AUD-BBR-BBSY 

(i) Commences 26th November 2014. 
 
The swaps in place cover 60% (2013: 66%) of the total borrowings as at 30 June 2014.  It is anticipated that the coverage will be above 70% 
over the next financial year based on expected average debt levels. 

 
The following table details the notional principal amounts and remaining terms of interest rate swap contracts outstanding as at reporting date: 

 
Cash flow hedges 

 

 Average contracted 
fixed interest rate 

Notional  
principal amount 

Fair value 

Outstanding floating  2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 

for fixed contracts % % $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 

Less than 1 year 2.87 4.75 25,000 75,000 (21) (659) 

1 -2 years 3.13 - 70,000 - (405) - 

2 – 5 years - 3.40 - 25,000 - (257) 
 

 The interest rate swaps settle on a monthly or quarterly basis. The Group will settle the difference between the fixed and floating interest rate 
on a net basis. 

 
 All interest rate swap contracts exchanging floating rate interest amounts for fixed rate interest amounts are designated as cash flow hedges in 

order to reduce the Group's cash flow exposure resulting from variable interest rates on borrowings. The interest rate swaps and the interest 
payments on the loan occur simultaneously and the amount deferred in equity is recognised in profit or loss over the period that the floating 

interest payments on debt impact profit or loss. 
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Note 43: Financial instruments (continued) 
 
(g) Credit risk management 
 

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.  
 
The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from 
defaults.  
 
The Group undertake credit worthiness reviews on all customers and look to obtain debtor insurance for all significant customers. Credit 
exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved. 
 
Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across several geographical areas. Ongoing credit evaluation is performed 
on the financial condition of accounts receivable and, where appropriate, credit guarantee insurance cover is purchased.  
 
The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings 
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.  
 
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents the Group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained. 
 
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover this credit risk. 
 
The table below shows the balance of 4 major counterparties at the end of the reporting period: 
 
 
  30/06/14 30/06/13 

Counterparty Location Carrying Amount Carrying Amount 

  $ 000 $ 000 

International supermarkets  United Kingdom 2,995 4,205 

Australian supermarkets  Australia 11,079 8,212 

 
Activities that give rise to credit risk and the associated maximum exposure to credit risk include, but are not limited to: 
 

 granting loans and receivables to customers and placing deposits with other entities.  In these cases, the maximum exposure to credit risk 
is the carrying amount of the related financial assets; 

 entering into derivative contracts for example, foreign exchange contracts, interest rate swaps and credit derivatives.  When the resulting 
asset is measured at fair value, the maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date will equal the carrying amount; 
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Note 43: Financial instruments (continued) 
 
(h) Liquidity risk management 
  
 Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors who have built an appropriate liquidity risk management 

framework for the management of the Group's short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements.  
 
 The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities by continuously 

monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Included in note 42 (b) is a listing 
of additional undrawn facilities that the Company/Group has at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk. 

 
The following table details the Group's and Company’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial assets and liabilities.  The 
contractual maturity is based on the earliest date on which the Group may be required to pay. The amounts below are based on undiscounted 
cash flows and include principal and interest: 

 

CONSOLIDATED Weighted Less than   3 months   

 average 1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years 5+ years 

 interest rate $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

       

2014       

Non-interest bearing assets - 10,368 21,181 10,368 - - 

Non-interest bearing liabilities - 17,454 23,759 209 - - 

Finance Lease liability 8.84 - 630 1,975 1,905 - 

Floating interest rate liabilities 5.05 173 345 1,553 41,000 - 

Fixed interest rate liabilities 5.28 316 632 2,864 71,558 - 

Fixed interest rate assets - - - - - - 

Financial Guarantees - - - 1,543 - - 

       

2013       

Non-interest bearing assets - 8,312 17,269 8,312 - - 

Non-interest bearing liabilities - 14,154 18,868 606 308 - 

Finance Lease liability 9.02 - 556 1,120 4,864 - 

Floating interest rate liabilities 6.76 201 402 1,810 35,700 - 

Fixed interest rate liabilities 7.73 504 1,009 2,305 102,129 - 

Fixed interest rate assets 10.25 14 91 1,927 - - 

Financial Guarantees - - - 1,351 - - 

 
The amounts included above for financial guarantee contract are the maximum amounts the Group could be forced to settle under the 
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee.  Based on expectations at the end 
of the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than not that such an amount will not be payable under the arrangement. 
However, the estimate is subject to change depending on the probability if the counterparty claiming under the guarantee which is a function of 
the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.   
 
The variable interest rate instruments for both non-derivative financial assets and liabilities is subject to change if changes in variable interest 
rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting period. 
 
The Group has access to financing facilities of which $10.7 million were unused at the end of the reporting period (2013: $18.9 million). The 
Group expects to meet its other obligations from operating cash flows and proceeds of maturing financial assets. 

 
 The following table details the Group's liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments. The table has been drawn up based on the 

undiscounted net cash inflows /(outflows) on the derivative instrument that settle on a net basis and the undiscounted gross inflows/(outflows) 
on those derivatives that require gross settlement. When the amount payable or receivable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been 
determined by reference to the projected interest rates as illustrated by the yield curves existing at the reporting date.  

 

  Less than   3 months   

  1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years 5+ years 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

2014       

Net settled:       

  Interest rate swaps  - - 21 405 - 

Net settled:       

 Foreign currency forward and 
option contracts 

 
- 83 635 69 - 

  316 715 3,499 1,627 - 
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Note 43: Financial instruments (continued) 
 
(h) Liquidity risk management (continued) 
 

  Less than   3 months   

  1 month 1-3 months to 1 year 1-5 years 5+ years 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

       

2013       

Net settled:       

  Interest rate swaps  2 - 657 257 - 

Net settled:       

  Foreign currency forward contracts  110 76 482 405 - 

  614 1,085 2,787 2,534 - 

 
(i) Fair value of financial instruments 
  
 The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows: 
 

 the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets are 
determined with reference to quoted market prices 

 the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are determined in accordance with 
generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market transactions 

 the fair value of derivative instruments, are calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices are not available use is made of discounted 
cash flow analysis using the applicable yield curve  for the duration of the instruments for non-optional derivatives, and option pricing 
models for optional derivatives. 

 
 Foreign currency forward contracts are measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves derived from quoted interest rates 

matching maturities of the contracts.  
 
 Foreign currency option contracts are measured using quoted exchange rates, market implied volatilities and yield curves derived from quoted 

interest rates matching maturities of the contracts.  
 
 Interest rate swaps are measured at the present value of future cash flows estimated and discounted based on the applicable yield curves 

derived from quoted interest rates. 
 
 The financial statements include holdings in unlisted shares which are measured at cost as there are no publically available market prices.  
 
 The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements approximate 

their fair values. 
 
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into 
Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable. 
 

 Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 

 Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 

 

 Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not 
based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 

Financial assets at FVTPL $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Derivative financial assets – 30 June 2014 - - - - 

Derivative financial assets – 30 June 2013 - - - - 

 
Financial liabilities at FVTPL 
 

    

Derivative financial liabilities – 30 June 2014 - 1,213 - 1,213 

Derivative financial liabilities – 30 June 2013 - 1,989 - 1,989 

 
The above table includes both forward exchange contracts and foreign exchange options.   
 
There were no items relating to Levels 1 and 3 in the year or the prior year.  Therefore there were no transfers between levels. 
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Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis 
 
Some of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The following table gives 
information about how the fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and 
inputs used). 
 

Financial 
assets/ 

Financial 
liabilities 

Fair value  
as at 30/6/14 

$ 000 

Fair value  
as at 30/6/13 

$ 000 

Fair 
value 

hierarchy 
 

Valuation 
technique(s) and 

key input(s) 

Significant 
unobservable 

input(s) 

Relationship 
of unobservable 

inputs  
to fair value 

1) Foreign 
currency 
forward 
contracts and 
foreign 
currency 
options. 
 

Liabilities $787 Liabilities $1,073 Level 2 
 

Discounted cash flow. 
Future cash flows are 
estimated based on 
forward 
exchange rates (from 
observable forward 
exchange rates at the 
end of the reporting 
period) and 
contract forward rates, 
discounted at a rate that 
reflects the credit risk of 
various counterparties. 
 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

2) Interest 
rate 
swaps 
 

Liabilities $426 Liabilities $916 Level 2 Discounted cash flow. 
Future cash flows are 
estimated based on 
forward 
interest rates (from 
observable yield curves 
at the end of the 
reporting 
period) and contract 
interest rates, 
discounted 
at a rate that reflects the 
credit risk of various 
counterparties. 
 

 
N/A 

 
N/A 

 
There were no items relating to Levels 1 and 3 in the period or the prior period. 

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are 
required) 
 
The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial statements 
approximate their fair values. 

 
 
Note 44: Events after the reporting period 
 
On the 24

th
 July 2014, the company signed a binding heads of agreement with 1847 (SA) Pty Ltd (1847) for the sale of its Yaldara Winery and 

Yaldara brand for $15.5M.  Settlement which is subject to 1847 obtaining a liquor licence for the winery, is expected to occur in November or 

December 2014. 

 
In respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2014, a final dividend of 2.2 cents per share was declared on 27

th
 August 2014 and will be paid on 

19
th
 November 2014. 

 
There have been no other matters or circumstances, other than that referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto, that have arisen since 
the end of the financial year, that have significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, 
or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years. 
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Note 45: Parent Entity Disclosures 
 
 Consolidated 

45.1 Financial Position 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

Assets   

Current assets 231,554 196,440 

Non-current assets 244,821 240,914 

Total assets 476,375 437,354 

   

Liabilities   

Current liabilities 47,981 40,310 

Non-current liabilities 186,866 191,610 

Total liabilities 234,847 231,920 

Net Assets 241,528 205,434 

 
Equity   

Issued Capital 443,266 403,155 

Accumulated Losses  (202,374) (198,273) 

Reserves   

Equity settled employee benefits 1,497 1,578 

Hedging (784) (949) 

Foreign currency translation (77) (77) 

Total reserves 636 552 

Total equity 241,528 205,434 

 
 Consolidated 

45.2 Financial Performance Year ended 30 
June 2014 

Year ended 30 
June 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

Profit / (Loss) for the year (650) 1,348 

Other comprehensive income/(Loss) 164 (84) 

Total comprehensive income (486) 1,264 

 
 

 Consolidated 

45.3 Guarantees entered into by parent entity 2014 2013 

 $’000 $’000 

   

Guarantee provided under the deed of cross guarantee (i) 
 
(i) The parent entity has entered into a deed of cross guarantee with subsidiaries as indicated in 
note 39. 

11,459 9,982 

 
 

45.4 Contingent liabilities of the parent entity   

 Nil Nil 

   

 
 

45.5 Capital Commitments of the parent entity   

   

Plant and Equipment   

Not longer than 1 year - 83 
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Directors’ declaration 
 
The Directors declare that: 
 
(a) In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 

and payable; 
 
(b) the attached financial statements are in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards as stated in note 3 to the financial 

statements;  
 
(c) In the Directors’ opinion, the attached Financial Statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including 

compliance with accounting standards and giving true and fair view of the financial position and performance of the consolidated entity; and 
 
(d) The Directors’ have been given the declarations required by s.295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
At the date of this declaration, the Company is within the class of companies affected by ASIC class order 98/1418. The nature of the deed of cross 
guarantee is such that each company which is party to the deed guarantees to each creditor payment in full of any debt in accordance with the deed 
of cross guarantee.  
 
In the Director’s opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the companies to which the ASIC class order applies, as 
detailed in Note 39 to the Financial Statements will, as a group, be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become, 
subject by virtue of the deed of cross guarantee. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
 
On behalf of the Directors 
 

 
 
Ian Ferrier 
Chairman 
29th August 2014 
 
 
 


